

LUND UNIVERSITY

Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals

Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats

Arevalo Sureda, Ester

2017

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Arevalo Sureda, E. (2017). Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals: Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Biology]. Lund University, Faculty of Science, Department of Biology.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals

Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats

ESTER ARÉVALO SUREDA DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY







Faculty of Science Department of Biology



ISBN 978-91-7753-182-1

Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals

Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals

Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats

Ester Arévalo Sureda



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Föreläsningssalen, Biologihus A, Sölvegatan 35 on the 31st of March 2017, 13.00.

Faculty opponent Ass. Professor Francisco José Pérez-Cano Department of Biochemistry and Physiology, University of Barcelona, Spain

Organization	Document name	Document name				
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSER	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION				
Faculty of Science	Date of issue					
Author(a): Estar Arávela Surada	2017-03-31	tion				
Author(s). Ester Arevaio Sureda	Sponsoning organization	1011				
Title and subtitle: Development of the Effects of enteral provocation with pro	Title and subtitle: Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals. Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats					
Abstract						
Abstract The rat, as an altritial species, is born with an immature gastrointestinal tract and intestinal barrier function, which is highly absorptive to milk-borne bioactive molecules that can pass undigested and reach the general circulation of the suckling newborn. This passage occurs by the neonatal-Fc-receptor (FcRn) binding and trancytosis of immunoglobulin G in the proximal small intestine (SI) and by the highly endocytic vacuolated enterocytes non-selectively in the distal SI. Postnatal gut maturation accelerates at weaning, around postnatal day 21, coincident with the dietary transition from milk to solid food. Maturation of the gut can also be precociously induced by provocation with a lectin, phytohaemagglutinin (PHA), mimicking the naturality occurring changes in gut structure and function. The changes occurring during natural or induced gut maturation include stimulation of pancreatic function and cessation of the SI absorptive capacity to macromolecules (gut closure). Intestinal epithelial maturation has been related to the gut immune system and is suggested to depend on T-lymphocytes activation. Recently, the transcription factor B-lymphocyte-induced maturation-protein-1 (Blimp-1) has been proposed to be a key regulator of intestinal maturation in mice. Hence, the present study investigated the events occurring during gut development and the cues initiating the process. The study especially focused on changes in the barrier function and macromolecular permeability, pancreatic-like protease-induced maturation, by both protease or PHA, included the transition of foetal- to adult-type SI epithelium, with reduced FCRn expression in the proximal part and disappearance of vacuolated enterocytes in the distal part, associated with a similar change in intestinal epithelial Blimp1 expression. The early effects after exposure to the provocative agents, PHA and protease in epithelial leakiness of the distal SI. These results indicated that protease and PHA affected the intestinal barrier						
Key words: gut, intestine, pancreas, endocytosis, IgG, FcRn, Blimp1, T-ly immunohistochemistry	development, precocious, proteas mphocyte, passive immunity, altri	se, PHA, enterocytes, permeability, cial, neonatal, suckling, athymic, rat,				
Classification system and/or index ter	rms (if any)					
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English				
ISSN and key title		ISBN 978-91-7753-182-1 (print) ISBN 978-91-7753-183-8 (electronic)				
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 182	Price				
Security classification						
L the undersigned being the convright	owner of the chatrast of the cha					

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2017-02-21

Development of the gastrointestinal tract in young mammals

Effects of enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats

Ester Arévalo Sureda



Coverphoto by Marc Pallarès Carrera

Copyright Ester Arévalo Sureda

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN 978-91-7753-182-1 (print) ISBN 978-91-7753-183-8 (electronic)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2017









To you (not only, but also)

Qui fa tot el que pot, no esta obligat a més El refranyer popular català i la Mama

Table of contents

List of Publications	10
Author Contributions	11
Conference abstracts	12
Publications not included in the thesis	13
Abbreviations	14
Abstract	17
Introduction	19
The digestive system	19
Gut maturation	21
The gut immune system	22
The gut immune system in the young	24
The intestinal barrier	25
The intestinal barrier in the young	27
Gut microbiota in the young	31
Digestive and immune systems – developmental connections	32
The suckling rat model	32
Scientific aims	35
Methodology	
Animals and ethics statement	37
Experiments	37
Animal euthanasia and samples collection	40
In vivo intestinal permeability	42
Analyses	43

Results and Discussion	49
Protease-induced precocious gut maturation	49
Maturation of the intestinal epithelium	51
Exocrine pancreatic function during development	55
Early effects of the provocative agents	59
Involvement of the immune system in gut maturation	62
Possible mechanisms for initiating gut maturation	67
Conclusions	70
Future studies and perspectives	71
Popular summary	73
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	75
Resum de divulgació científica	77
Acknowledgements	79
References	81

List of Publications

Paper I

Prykhodko, O., Pierzynowski, S. G., Nikpey, E., <u>Arévalo Sureda, E.</u>, Fedkiv, O., Weström, B. R. (2015).

Pancreatic and pancreatic-like microbial proteases accelerate gut maturation in neonatal rats.

PLoS ONE, 10(2), e0116947. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116947.

Paper II

Arévalo Sureda E, Weström B, Pierzynowski S, Prykhodko O. (2016).

Maturation of the Intestinal Epithelial Barrier in Neonatal Rats Coincides with Decreased FcRn Expression, Replacement of Vacuolated Enterocytes and Changed Blimp1 Expression.

PLoS ONE, 11 (10), e0164775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169724.

Correction in PLoS ONE, 12(1), e0169724. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0169724.

Paper III

Arévalo Sureda E, Gidlund C, Weström B, Prykhodko O.

Intestinal precocious maturation can be induced in athymic (nude) neonatal rats despite their T-cell deficiency.

Manuscript submitted to the American Journal of Physiology – Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology (2017).

Paper IV

Arévalo Sureda E, Prykhodko O., Weström B.

Early effects on the gut and the intestinal permeability after enteral provocation with protease or phytohaemagglutinin in neonatal rats.

Manuscript.

Author Contributions

Paper I

Created the hypothesis: OP SGP Conceived and designed of the work: OP SGP BRW Data collection: OP EN Analysed the data: OP SGP EN <u>EAS</u> OF Data interpretation: OP SGP EN <u>EAS</u> OF BW Writing – original draft: OP Wrote the paper: OP SGP EN <u>EAS</u> OF BW

Paper II

Conception and design of the work: BW OP Data collection and analysis: <u>EAS</u> OP Data interpretation: <u>EAS</u> BW OP Writing – original draft: <u>EAS</u> Critical revision of the article: BW SGP OP Writing – review& editing: <u>EAS</u> BW SGP OP

Paper III

Conception and design of the work: BW OP Data collection and analysis: <u>EAS</u> OP CG Data interpretation: <u>EAS</u> CG BW OP Writing – original draft: <u>EAS</u> Critical revision of the article: OP BW

Paper IV (Manuscript)

Conception and design of the work: <u>EAS</u> BW Data collection and analysis: <u>EAS</u> BW Data interpretation: <u>EAS</u> OP BW Writing – original draft: <u>EAS</u> Critical revision of the article: OP BW

Conference abstracts

During the course of this PhD project preliminary results, some of them included in this thesis as additional unpublished data have been presented at international scientific conferences in poster format by the author, or as specified.

Role and expression of neonatal-Fc-receptor in the small intestine during normal and precociously induced maturation in the neonatal rat.

Arévalo Sureda E, Prykhodko O, Pierzynowski SG and Weström B

In: Abstracts from the 26th Meeting of the European Intestinal Transport Group (EITG), 2–5 October 2014. Acta Physiologica. 2015;214 (Supplement S701):1-16. doi: 10.1111/apha.12498. Poster.

In vivo macromolecule absorption in wild-type and immunodeficient athymic neonatal rats during lectin-induced maturation.

Prykhodko O, <u>Arévalo Sureda E</u>, Zhou J, Chopek A, Fedkiv O, Pierzynowski SG and Weström B

In: Abstracts from the 26th Meeting of the European Intestinal Transport Group (EITG), 2–5 October 2014. Acta Physiologica. 2015;214 (Supplement S701):1-16. doi: 10.1111/apha.12498. Oral presentation by Olena Prykhodko.

Expression of the transcription repressor Blimp1 correlates to the disappearance of FcRn expression in proximal and vacuolated cells in distal small intestine during development in neonatal rats.

Arévalo Sureda E, Prykhodko O, Pierzynowski SG and Weström B

In: 48th Annual meeting of the European Society for Pediatric Gatroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN): 2015; Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Poster. PO-G-0009

Increased pancreatic protease activity in relation to PAR2 receptor expression during intestinal postnatal development in rats.

Arévalo Sureda E, Weström B, Pierzynowski SG and Prykhodko O

In: 48th Annual meeting of the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN): 2015; Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Poster. PO-G-0014.

Microbial changes and TLR4 expression during natural and induced intestinal maturation in neonatal rats.

Prykhodko O, <u>Arévalo Sureda E</u>, Gacon AL, Fedkiv O, Pierzynowski SG and Weström B

In: 48th Annual meeting of the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN): 2015; Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Poster. PO-G-0016

Precocious gastrointestinal maturation can be induced in T-cell deficient athymic (nude) suckling rats

Arévalo Sureda E, Prykhodko O, Zhou J, Weström B

In: 49th Annual meeting of the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN): 2016; Athens, Greece. Poster. G-P-002.

Publications not included in the thesis

Lozinska, L., Prykhodko, O., Sureda, E. A., Szwiec, K., Podgurniak, P., Pierzynowski, S., & Weström, B. (2015). Monitoring changes in plasma levels of pancreatic and intestinal enzymes in a model of pancreatic exocrine insufficiency - induced by pancreatic duct-ligation - in young pigs. Advances Medical Science, 60(1), 112-117. doi: 10.1016/j.advms.2015.01.003.

Abbreviations

BIgG	Bovine Immunoglobulin G
Blimp1	B-Lymphocyte Induced Maturation Protein – 1
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CCK	Cholecystokinin
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
DAO	Diamine Oxidase
DCs	Dendritic Cells
FcRn	Neonatal-Fc Receptor
FD4	FITC-dextran 4kDa
FD70	FITC-dextran 70kDa
FITC	Fluorescein isothyanate
GI	Gastrointestinal
g bwt	grams body weight
HRP	Horse Radish Peroxidase
HSA	Human Serum Albumin
IECs	Intestinal Epithelial Cells
IELs	Intraepithelial Lymphocytes
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ILCs	Innate Lymphocytes
kDa	kilo Dalton

Lac	Lactulose
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
Man	Mannitol
Nude	Athymic T-Cell Deficient Nude Rats
PARs	Protease Activated Receptors
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PHA	Phytohaemagglutinin
PPs	Peyer's Patches
Prot	Protease
RIgG	Rat Immunoglobulin G
RT	Room Temperature
SD	Sprague Dawley
SI	Small Intestine
SPF	Specific Pathogen Free
TGF	Transforming Growth Factor
Th	T-helper lymphocyte
TLR	Toll-Like Receptors
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
Treg	Regulatory T-lymphocyte
Å	Ångstrom

Abstract

The rat, as an altritial species, is born with an immature gastrointestinal tract and intestinal barrier function, which is highly absorptive to milk-borne bioactive molecules that can pass undigested and reach the general circulation of the suckling newborn. This passage occurs by the neonatal-Fc-receptor (FcRn) binding and trancytosis of immunoglobulin G in the proximal small intestine (SI) and by the highly endocytic vacuolated enterocytes non-selectively in the distal SI. Postnatal gut maturation accelerates at weaning, around postnatal day 21, coincident with the dietary transition from milk to solid food. Maturation of the gut can also be precociously induced by provocation with a lectin, phytohaemagglutinin (PHA), mimicking the naturally occurring changes in gut structure and function. The changes occurring during natural or induced gut maturation include stimulation of pancreatic function and cessation of the SI absorptive capacity to macromolecules (gut closure). Intestinal epithelial maturation has been related to the gut immune system and is suggested to depend on T-lymphocytes activation. Recently, the transcription factor B-lymphocyte-induced maturation-protein-1 (Blimp-1) has been proposed to be a key regulator of intestinal maturation in mice. Hence, the present study investigated the events occurring during gut development and the cues initiating the process. The study especially focused on changes in the barrier function and macromolecular permeability, pancreatic function, and the relation to gut immune factors.

A novel animal model of pancreatic and pancreatic-like protease-induced precocious gut maturation was established in neonatal rats, and was used in comparison to the existing PHA-induced model, as well as natural gut development. The gut maturational changes observed during natural or induced maturation, by both protease or PHA, included the transition of foetal- to adult- type SI epithelium, with reduced FcRn expression in the proximal part and disappearance of vacuolated enterocytes in the distal part, associated with a similar change in intestinal epithelial Blimp1 expression. The early effects after exposure to the provocative agents, PHA and protease, revealed that both agents hampered macromolecular permeability and only protease also caused an increase in epithelial leakiness of the distal SI. These results indicated that protease and PHA affected the intestinal barrier function differently. Furthermore, the provocative agents were also tested in neonatal athymic nude rats, T-cell immunodeficient, and they appeared to be susceptible to induced precocious gut maturation. These results suggested that gut maturation is independent of thymus-derived T-cells, but the involvement of other immune cells types, possibly innate immune cells, should be further investigated.

Thus, the findings of the present thesis will contribute to an increased understanding of initiating cues and the mechanisms of maturation of the intestinal barrier in young mammals. The knowledge obtained could be applied to improve strategies for the treatment of gut-related complications, often affecting premature infants.

Introduction

The digestive system

The digestive system consists of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and the accessory organs; including the liver and the pancreas. All the organs within the digestive system form a complex system which functions in the digestion and absorption of nutrients, the elimination of food components that are not absorbed or excreted and the protection of the organism. The GI tract is a tube extending from the mouth to the anus, and its inner surface comes into continuous contact with exogenous substances that are consumed via eating. Due to the variety and complexity of the functions of the digestive system, it has become clear that the enteric nervous system (ENS) and the immune system in the gut are of utmost importance. Along the GI tract the following can be found: the oral cavity and the oesophagus, the stomach, the small intestine (or the gut), the caecum, the colon, the rectum and the anus. To facilitate the functions of digestion and absorption it comprises an enormous surface area, which is about 200 m² in adult humans ¹. However, at the same time it is a tightly sealed barrier that limits the internal milieu from the external environment.

The small intestine

The small intestine (SI) can be divided into three sections: the duodenum, which begins just after the stomach; the jejunum, and the ileum, which is connected to the colon via the cecum. In the duodenum, decomposition of ingested food by pancreatic and bile secretions takes place, whereas the jejunum and ileum are the main sites of absorption 1 .

The architecture of the SI consists of concentric layers, in order from the innermost to outermost (or luminal) layers: serosa, layer of mesothelium; *muscularis*, with two smooth muscle layers (longitudinal and circular); submucosa, connective tissue with blood and lymph vessels, nerve plexus and submucosal glands; and the mucosa. The mucosal layer is organized into the *lamina muscularis*, a smooth muscle layer and the *lamina propria*, a loose connective tissue layer with lymph tissue and blood and lymph vessels, and

finally, the epithelium. The SI epithelium is formed by a monolayer of cells organized in finger-like structures towards the lumen (villi) and invaginations into the submucosa (crypt) (Figure 1). Hence, the functional unit of the SI epithelia is the crypt-villus complex. The cellular types that can be found at the intestinal mucosa are enterocytes (absorptive cells), goblet cells (mucous secreting cells), and endocrine cells (responsible for the secretion of regulatory hormones) distributed in the villi region, and Paneth's cells (responsible for the secretion of antibacterial factors into the lumen of crypts cells) and intestinal stem cells in the crypt region.

All cells in the mucosal epithelium originate from the crypt region, from intestinal stem cells. Two kinds of stem cells have been described in the intestine: crypt base columnar cells (CBCs)², which are distributed between Paneth's cells in the bottom of the crypts and can be identified by the marker Lgr5 (leucine group repeated 5)³. The second type of stem cells are the transit-amplifying (TA) cells or "+4 cells"⁴, which give origin to the other cells of the epithelia and undergo rapid cell proliferation. The intestinal epithelium is in a continuous state of cell turnover, which is completed within 3-5 days ^{5,6}. Renewal of cells occurs by proliferation, migration and differentiation into the different epithelial cell types from crypts up to the villus and apoptosis and shedding of "old" cells at the tip of villi. Each villus is built on several proliferating crypts.



Figure 1. Intestinal epithelium structure.

Diagram of the small intestinal epithelium indicating the distribution of the main cell types (left). Photomicrograph of H&E staining representative of the small intestine epithelium (200x) (right) with the different cell types indicated with coloured arrows of the corresponding cell-type colour in the legend: orange – enterocytes, green – enterocendocrine cells, yellow – goblet cells, blue – transit amplifying cells, red – stem cells and purple – paneth cells. The small intestinal epithelium diagram on the left is used with permission, courtesy of STEMCELL technologies.

The pancreas

The pancreas is a diffuse, lobulated, glandular, accessory organ situated in the abdominal cavity, in direct contact with the stomach, the small intestine and colon portions of the GI tract, as well as the spleen. As reviewed by Wathall (2005), the pancreas has a dual function: the endocrine function, confined to the cells of the islets of Langerhans, and the exocrine function, performed by the acinar cells. The exocrine function involves the production and secretion of the digestive enzymes, as well as the chyme neutralising secretions containing bicarbonate ions into the duodenum of the GI tract, via the joint pancreatic-biliary duct in rats. The main digestive enzymes contained within the pancreatic secretions include lipase, amylase, protease and nucleases. These enzymes participate in the hydrolysis ofdietary fat, carbohydrates and proteins, as well as DNA and RNA¹.

Gut maturation

At birth, the GI system is immature and adapted to the strict milk-based diet of the young. The immature stomach secretes low levels of chymosin, the milk-clotting enzyme, and hydrochloric acid, the levels of which increase at weaning together with the secretions of pepsin, intrinsic factor and gastrin¹. In this thesis, however, the main focus will be the small intestine and pancreas.

The small intestine

The SI intestine is immature at birth with reduced crypts, slow cell turnover, finger-shaped villi and enhanced permeability to macromolecules. At birth, the high permeability to macromolecules guarantees the absorption of bioactive molecules from maternal milk. The enterocytes in the distal SI are characterised by the presence of large supranucleolar vacuoles with high absorptive and digestive capacities ⁷, while in the proximal SI the enterocytes express neonatal Fc receptors. Functionally, the enzymatic activity of brush border disaccharidases is predominantly lactase.

At weaning, by the 3rd week of life in rats, the SI epithelium changes into the mature type, with the tongue-shaped villi and developed crypt structure in the mucosa and the permeability to macromolecules is drastically reduced (intestinal closure). The vacuolated enterocytes in the distal part of the SI disappear and neonatal-Fc-receptor (FcRn) expression in the proximal SI enterocytes decreases ⁸. Besides, the enzymatic brush border activities switch from lactase dominance to that of maltase and sucrase. In conclusion, during weaning the digestive organs

undergo changes for the adjustment to the new solid food diet and a more selective absorption.

Differentiation to other specialised epithelial cell-types, such as goblet cells also gradually appear in the mucosal epithelium occurs with age with a drastic increase from weaning at 21 days old ^{9,10}. Paneth's cells are also absent at birth and with age the crypts develop and organize and ultimately Paneth cells also appear ^{11,12}.

Pancreatic function

The pancreas, a gut accessory organ, is functionally immature at birth, and during the first few postnatal weeks, especially at weaning, undergoes a process of maturation, which includes growth and an increase in exocrine enzyme production and secretion¹. Pancreas growth and development in foetal and postnatal rats is under the hormonal control of thyroxine and corticosteroids, with low responsiveness to secretagogues in the young, as reviewed by Morisset (2008)¹³. However, during the first few days of life, a decrease of pancreatic weight has been observed in rats, which has been suggested to be due to the release of pancreatic enzymes ¹⁴. The secretion of pancreatic enzymes has also been stimulated in 10 day-old suckling rats with a combination of caerulein, a cholecystokinin (CCK) analogue, and secretin ¹⁵. The increase in proteolytic enzymes in the pancreas has also been induced in suckling rats by oral administration of a protease inhibitor, camostate, in an endogenous CCK independent manner ¹⁶. Thus, the pancreas grows exponentially during the first few postnatal weeks and is completely mature by the 4th week of age ¹⁷, with adaptation to the solid food diet, characterized by changes in the pancreatic content and enzyme composition, with a remarkable increase in proteolytic activity at weaning ¹⁸. Also, the endocrine function of the pancreas, including the production and secretion of insulin is developed postnatally, triggered by the change in diet at weaning ¹⁹.

The gut immune system

The immune system consists of a collection of organs, scattered cells and molecules that collectively mediate the physiological function of preventing and/or eradicating infections in the organism. Immunity, or the resistance to infectious disease, in mammals can be innate, with native immunity present in all healthy individuals; or adaptive, acquired immunity depending on the life history of the individuals and the infectious agents encountered. Thus, the immune system is a network of specialised cells in continuous transit across the body via the blood and

lymphatic vessels, passing through the different organs, providing surveillance and protection, and activating the defence action mechanisms when necessary.

The immune system is composed of different cellular types originating from the bone marrow and thymus, the primary lymphoid organs. Innate immune cells, or leukocytes, originate from a common myeloid precursor in the bone marrow that further differentiate into the different cell types in circulation or in the tissues including: mast cells, dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils, macrophages, etc. The cell lineage of the adaptive immunity originate instead from a common lymphoid precursor also in the bone marrow, where the development of B-lymphocytes takes place, with the exception of bird species where this takes place in the bursa of Fabricius. Otherwise, T-lymphocytes precursors transfer to the thymus for further development, a bilobed organ situated above the heart that it is at its maximum size per body weight at birth and involutes with age. Afterwards, all immunocompetent lymphocytes can populate the secondary lymphoid organs, including the spleen, which is the largest. The spleen is a solid organ situated in the peritoneal cavity that filters blood and creates an environment favourable for the immune cells, especially B-lymphocytes, to encounter antigens and become activated; otherwise, the activation of lymphocytes takes place in the lymph nodes spread throughout the body connected by the lymphatic vessels.

The first line of defence of an organism is the surface in immediate contact with the environment, thus the skin as well as the respiratory, the genitourinary and the intestinal mucosa. The mucosal surfaces, due to their structure represent a much larger surface than that of the skin and due to their major role in recognition of non-pathogenic and pathogenic antigens, have been defined as mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT).

In the gut mucosa, the intestine is not just a monolayer of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), there are also members of the immune system distributed in organised structures along the GI tract. The immune system along the GI tract consists of organized immune cells or aggregates of immune cells distributed along the intestinal mucosa, the so-called gut-associated-lymphoid tissue (GALT) and can be categorized as effective or inductive. At first, solitary immune cells can be directly associated to the epithelia, intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs); loose lymph tissue with immune cells in the *lamina propria*, and sometimes there are lymphocyte-filled villus spread along the length of the SI and intestinal lymphoid follicles (ILFs) can be found in the submucosa. All the previous have in common their function as effector sites. At last, the Peyer's patches would be the inductive site conformed by the highest organization of the aggregate lymphoid tissue in the gut ²⁰.

The gut immune system in the young

Similarly to the digestive system, the degree of development of the immune system has been linked to gestation length in mammals 21 , *i.e.* rodents vs. humans 22 , with a shorter gestation associated to the a more immature immune system at birth.

Due to the low antigenic environment in utero, the immune system at birth is functionally naïve ²³. During the suckling period, maternal milk provides protection of the young by milk-borne immunoglobulins (Ig), lactoferrin and immune cells ^{24,25}. Thus, passive immunity transfer from the mother to the young is crucial for providing protection to the young until their own adaptive immune system is fully functional at the time of weaning ^{23,24,26,27}. The activation of the immune system is enhanced during the weaning period after stimulation by dietary antigens. Strikingly, the immune system of a 10 day-old rat pup is immature, but that of a 21 day-old rat is comparable to that of an adult ²² evidencing the parallelism in the activation of the immune system of the young at weaning ²⁸⁻³⁰.

The development of the immune system in the young depends on the passage of antigens across the intestinal epithelia and the stimulation of inflammatory or tolerogenic responses. In early life, during the suckling period, development of oral tolerance is of great importance for individuals not to be harmed by oral antigens, dietary or commensal microbes. Impairment in establishing a tolerogenic immune status is associated with pathologies such as allergies. The major immune cell type involved in this process are regulatory T-lymphocytes (T_{reg}), which have been shown to be dependent on interleukin (IL) – 2 for maintenance and peripheral homeostasis ^{31,32}.

At weaning, the maturation of the immune system is characterised by the recruitment of an increased number of immune cells and subsequent epithelial crypt hyperplasia. Such activation is first associated with the up-regulation of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, *i.e.*, IL1 β , IL6 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) – α , as observed in rats and piglets ³³⁻³⁵ and an exponential increase in the number of lymphocytes in the intestinal wall and an increase in the mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) ³⁶⁻³⁸. This has been referred to as "physiological" inflammation at weaning, which is caused by the antigenic stimulation by new solid food components and microbial flora ²⁹. Hence, activation of the immune system and gut maturation has been described as processes that occur in parallel.

The intestinal barrier

Despite the digestive functions of the GI tract, it is also the most extensive surface in contact with the environment and hence is responsible of protecting the body and keeping it separated from the external environment, and at the same time supporting constant bidirectional communication. The barrier function has been defined as "The ability to control uptake across the mucosa and protect from damage of harmful substances from the lumen" by Keita and Söderholm (2010)³⁹. The barrier functions of the gut are of physical, mechanical and chemical nature, and include the excretion of undigested macromolecules, protection from pathogenic bacteria, tolerance to the commensal microflora and dietary antigens, and biosensor of the environment. Furthermore, the loss of the intestinal barrier function has been associated with several pathologies, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), coeliac disease, intestinal ischemia, food intolerance, allergy and malnutrition, etc. ⁴⁰⁻⁴³.

Routes across the intestinal barrier

The SI epithelium is formed by a monolayer of cells constituting a tightly sealed physical barrier, which is however, permeable. This property of intestinal permeability has been defined as "a functional feature of the intestine, measurable by analysing flux rates across the intestinal wall as a whole or across wall components of defined molecules that can be adequately measured" by Bischoff et al. (2014)⁴⁴.

The uptake of macromolecules in the SI can occur by pino/endocytic vesicles, either via a selective or a non-selective pathway (Figure 2) ^{45,46}. The non-selective pathway consists of non-specific trancytosis within the cytoplasmic vesicular system of IECs. The selective pathway, also referred to as a specific receptor-mediated trancytosis, transports intact macromolecules bound to their receptor across the epithelia ensuring its functional arrival into the circulation ⁴⁷. Abrahamson and Rodewald (1981) showed that, both pathways of macromolecule uptake, specific and non-specific, probably occur within the same endocytic vesicles and the content is sorted during their intracellular transport. Macromolecules taken up into vesicles that are not bound to receptors are probably digested by lysosomal hydrolases in the digestive vesicles. However, receptor-bound molecules would bud off in independent coated vesicles that cross the cells, fuse with the basolateral membrane and release their content, preventing the degradation of the bound molecules ^{46,48}.

Passage of luminal content trough the epithelium can also occur through the tight junctions, allowing water, ions and small molecules to pass. However, the paracellular route is often called leakiness, which is associated with dysfunctional

permeability under inflammatory circumstances, with loosening of the tight junctions allowing the passage of bigger molecules from the luminal content between the IECs, considered pathological.



Figure 2. Routes of transport across the small intestinal epithelium. Depending on the properties of the luminal content the transport can occur via different pathways across the intestinal epithelial cells (transcellular transport) or between the epithelial cells (paracellular transport). The transport of molecules through the epithelial cells can also be differentiated between transcellular diffusion and vesicular trancytosis. The uptake via vesicular trancytosis can be ahieved by unspecific or receptor-mediated endocytosis.

Measurement of the barrier properties

The permeability properties of the gut can be measured by the use of marker molecules of different molecular size and properties (overview in table 4, methodology section p42), *i.e.* protein markers, such as serum albumin from different species (~70kDa, bovine and human serum albumin, BSA and HSA respectively) and bovine immunoglobulin (BIgG, 150kDa), used for the evaluation of the macromolecules uptake via vesicular trancytosis. Albumin is considered to be a non-specific absorption marker whereas BIgG is considered to be a marker for the specific pathway, receptor-mediated trancytosis ⁴⁹. Therefore, BIgG could also be considered as a marker for FcRn expression and function. *In vivo* permeability studies are often susceptible to the possible digestion of the marker molecules after oral administration and thus, non-degradable markers are also available, *i.e.* fluorescein isothiocyanates (FITC) in combination with dextrans of different molecular sizes (FD). These molecules are recommended for comparison to protein markers, *i.e.* FD70 (70kDa) would be an equivalent to albumin. The paracellular transport across the intestinal epithelium can be assessed by the

permeability of small molecular weight marker molecules, *i.e.* FD4 (4kDa). Furthermore, the combination of mannitol (monosaccharide, 0.18kDa) with lactulose (disaccharide, 0.36kDa) can be used as a non-invasive method of assessment of the intestinal permeability by oral administration of the markers and subsequent measurement of their excretion in urine. The lactulose:mannitol ratio (Lac:Man ratio) is a permeability test that evaluates the relative importance of two different routes, since lactulose is believed to pass via the paracellular route, hence more prone to show changes in permeability, whereas mannitol is believed to pass by transcellular diffusion, passing through the epithelium in a more steady manner independent of any permeability changes. However, the Lac:Man ratio is recommended for use as a measurement of the health of the epithelia, rather than a marker for the specific transport routes ⁵⁰.

Hence the combination of different permeability tests as well as using different cocktails containing different types of marker molecules allows for the monitoring of intestinal permeability and integrity, contributing to the evaluation of gut health and disease.

The intestinal barrier in the young

The luminal milieu

Maternal milk is not only a source of nutrition for offspring; it also provides bioactive molecules essential for offspring protection and development, which include antibodies, hormones, antibacterial compounds, etc. during the suckling period. Thus, maternal milk provides the offspring with a beneficial luminal environment within a GI system adjusted to effectively digest milk nutrients and permit milk-born bioactive macromolecules to pass undigested through the GI tract, allowing them to reach the SI intact and be absorbed ^{24,51-56}.

Moreover, milk is not the only luminal component which confers protection to the young gut, but the gastrointestinal secretions also contribute. For instance, the stomach pH is kept less acidic allowing the bioactive molecules to pass intact. Also, the pancreatic exocrine secretions are low at first and increase within the second postnatal week, with not only digestive functions but also antibacterial.

Nonetheless, the intestinal epithelium itself can be a source of protective secretions. It has been shown that enterocytes, besides being mainly absorptive cells, can also secrete antimicrobial factors, cytokines, etc. ⁵⁷. The small intestine has a loose, unattached mucus layer which together with liquid secretions and motor activity, limit the organism to bacterial exposure by flushing ⁵⁸. However,

the mucus secreting specialised IECs, goblet cells, increase in numbers with age in the intestinal epithelia, especially in the crypt region, in newborn rats ¹⁰, and thus increasing the mucus layer above the epithelium participating in the defence from microbial colonisation. The Paneth's cells, which are also specialised IECs localised at the bottom of the crypt region that secrete antimicrobial factors such as lysozyme and defensins, also increase in numbers with age ⁵⁹ in the proximal-distal axis ^{12,60,61}.

The epithelium

Absorptive capacity

During the suckling period the distal half of the SI is mostly constituted by vacuolated enterocytes ⁶², which are foetal-type cells with high endocytic activity and a large supranuclear vacuole with intracellular digestive function occupying most of the cytoplasm (Figure 3)⁷. These distal absorptive cells may contribute to the uptake and transfer of intact macromolecules in a non-specific manner ⁶³.



Figure 3. The proximal – distal axis in the small intestine during the suckling period in rats. In the proximal SI the neonatal-Fc-Receptor (FcRn) binds maternal antibodies to the offspring via receptor-mediated trancytosis across the intestinal epithelial cell barrier. In the distal SI the dominant cell type are the vacuolated enterocytes with high endocytic capacity with their cytoplasma occupied almost entirely by large supranuclear vacuoles.

The transport of immunoglobulins has long been studied and attributed to a highly saturable membrane receptor with pH-dependent binding ⁴⁸. Later studies showed that binding of immunoglobulin occurs at a slightly acidic pH in absorptive

intestinal cells ⁴⁷. Finally, the IgG receptor was purified revealing a major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-class-I-related heavy chain molecule non-covalently associated to a stabilizing α -2-microglobulin forming a heterodimer, the FcRn ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. FcRn is expressed by the SI epithelium and has the physiological role of transferring adaptive passive immunity from the mother to the offspring, *i.e.* protecting milk-borne IgG from proteolytic degradation during trancytosis ⁶⁷.

At weaning, FcRn expression is drastically reduced in the SI epithelium and the localization pattern is altered once the development of both the gut and the immune system is complete. Additionally, it is known that the switch in FcRn expression with age is related to functional changes. The functions of FcRn in adults, as reviewed by Rath *et al.* (2012) ⁶⁸, include e.g. extending IgG and albumin half-lives, and thus becoming the most abundant with the longest lifespan molecules in blood circulation ^{65,69}.

Environmental sensors

In the epithelial cells, there is a general repertoire of receptors expressed in contact with the luminal contents, including dietary, microbial and secretions from the host, that act as sentinels of the intestinal milieu. These sensors mediate the crosstalk between the environment and the host and include innate immune receptors or pathogen-recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognise conserved structures termed pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). There are several types of PRRs grouped according to the type of PAMPs they recognise, such as the toll-like receptors (TLRs) and lectin-binding receptors (LBRs), among others. TLRs are a family of transmembrane glycoproteins that recognise bacterial antigens, *i.e.* TLR4 recognises the endotoxin characteristic of gram-negative bacteria, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)⁷⁰, and its activation often leads to signalling via the NF κ B pathway which is suggested to be dependent on endocytosis of the receptor bound to the ligand ^{71,72}. The LBRs often act as endocytic receptors but may also be capable of signalling, possibly by direct signalling through the MAP kinase and NF κ B pathways or may act indirectly by modulating TLRs.

Proteinase – activated – receptors (PARs) are a family of seven transmembrane domain receptors coupled to G proteins that are activated by proteolytic cleavage of the extracellular domain in the amino terminus, which acts as a tethered ligand. The proteases that activate this family of receptors act as signalling molecules that regulate other cellular processes, and thus, PARs have been proposed as biosensors. There are four known types of PARs, however the target of our studies is PAR2. This receptor is expressed in organs of the GI tract such are the pancreas, stomach and intestine, in the IECs ⁷³. The activation of PAR2 can occur by different mechanisms (Figure 4), such as canonical activation, which occurs by proteolytic cleavage, unmasking the tethered ligand domain. Non-tethered ligand activation of PAR2 can also occur by proteolytic cleavage in a different site than

that of canonical cleavage, possibly unmasking a new tethered ligand. The complete cleavage of tethered ligands can cause a proteolytic disarming of the receptor. Activation of the receptor can also be achieved with the binding of synthetic agonists to the receptor, independent of proteolytic cleavage, by binding at the site of the tethered ligand ⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶.



Figure 4. Protease Activated Receptors (PAR) activation mechanisms: PAR2 as an example. Canonical activation occurs by proteolytic cleavage unmasking the tethered ligand domain. Non-tethered ligand activation occurs by proteolytic cleavage in a different site than that of canonical cleavage, possibly unmasking a new tethered ligand. The complete cleavage of the tethered ligand causes the proteolytic disarming of PAR2. Activation of the receptor can also be achieved with binding of synthetic agonists to the activation site. Adapted from Zhao P, Metcalf M, Bunnett NW. Biased Signaling of Protease-activated Receptors. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2014;5. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00067⁷⁴.

Immune barrier function

At birth, the newborn immune system is immature and the defence of the offspring depends on the maternal transfer of passive immunity, which occurs during the suckling period in rats. Thus, from birth there is a competing balance between hostile stimuli, pro-inflammatory factors, activators of the naïve adaptive immune system and the protective mechanisms, anti-inflammatory factors, to prevent an overwhelming and dysfunctional activation of the immune system. Thus, the induction of tolerance and the activation of the immune system occur synchronously.

The sampling of antigens from the luminal content, their uptake, and the site of the encounter with antigen presenting cells (APCs) is important for the appropriate activation of the immune system. FcRn has been reported to be capable of

bidirectional transport of immune complexes (antigen-IgG-FcRn)^{77,78}, and therefore contributes to the activation of the naïve neonatal immune system by antigen retrieval from the luminal side as well as immune-complexes antigen-presentation to APCs, DCs and T-lymphocytes^{77,79}. Maternal milk contains secretory IgA (sIgA), which restricts exposure to luminal antigens and hence prevents the maturation of intestinal T-lymphocytes⁸⁰. It has also been proposed that sIgA-antigen immune complexes could also pass across the barrier and contribute to antigen presentation⁸¹.

Gut microbiota in the young

Bacterial colonization is also an important change occurring at birth, when mammals go from the low antigenic milieu in utero to a hostile environment ⁸². It has been reported that the first colonizing community is of urogenital maternal origin when a vaginal delivery occurs or from the skin and environment community, when delivery occurs via C-section ^{83,84}.

During the suckling period, the milk diet favours Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Lactobacilli spp.* and *Bifidobacteria spp.*, and there is a low diversity of species. At weaning, postnatal changes in microbiota have been described to undergo a community maturation process with an increase in gram-negative bacteria, due to the cessation of milk consumption, and also an increase in diversity of species, from Firmicutes and Proteobacteria towards a Bacteroidetes dominated community, as reviewed by Jain and Walker (2015)⁸⁵.

Noteworthy, the changes in the microbial community also contribute to intestinal health via their involvement in metabolic processes and modulation of the barrier function, although not being a barrier property itself ⁴⁴. At first, tolerance must be established for the commensal community, which compete with the opportunistic and pathogenic colonizers contributing to maintaining homeostasis within the microbial ecosystem.

This change in microbiota with an increasing proportion of Gram-negative bacteria at weaning makes Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) an interesting candidate to be studied during gut maturation. The role of this receptor in the regulation of mucus-producing goblet cells and its importance for the development of necrotizing enterocolitis in immature mice has been shown ^{86,87} as well as its expression in the GI tract and accessory organs in adult rats ⁸⁸. In suckling rats the expression of TLR4 has been reported without any marked changes during intestinal development (*unpublished data*, AL Gacon).

Digestive and immune systems – developmental connections

Natural development of the gut at weaning has been suggested to be dependent on T-cell activation in rats ⁸⁹⁻⁹¹. Alternatively, previous studies trying to relate gut and immune system maturation in mice showed that in absence of adaptive immunity the maturation progress was temporarily delayed and that passive immunity affected the enterocytes gene expression especially in those mice with defective adaptive immunity ⁹².

Recently it was reported that the transcription factor Blimp1 is strongly expressed throughout the epithelium of the embryonic gut but its expression is down-regulated in mice after birth ^{93,94}. Among the discoveries it was described the loss of Blimp1 expression at weaning and pointed it as a key genetic program participant of gut maturation regulating element with alternative tissue-specific promoters and there could also be differences between species ⁹⁵. Moreover, the Blimp1 knockout mice were observed to have severe consequences such as postnatal mortality, reduced growth, requirement for adaptation of enterocytes to suckling, increased epithelial turnover and accelerated Paneth's cells development ^{93,94}. However, the physiological role of Blimp1 expressed by the immature gut epithelium remains unclear.

The suckling rat model

In mammals, the stage of intestinal maturation at birth varies among different species ⁴⁵ and it correlates to the length of gestational period. Species with longer gestation periods are born more mature, such as precocious species including ungulates (pigs) and humans. Rodents, however, are altricial species, which due to the shorter gestational periods are born furless, blind, deaf, and dependent on maternal support for thermoregulation, nutrition, locomotion and the emptying of their bowels. The antenatal development of the GI tract between the third and the fifth months of pregnancy is considered to be comparable to that occurring in neonatal rats during the first three weeks of life, specifically with regards of antibody transfer (passive immunity) ⁹⁶. Thus, as an altricial species, the suckling rat is a suitable model for the study of the gut in early life as well as for biomarker identification, pathogenesis, and mechanisms; as well as for immunological studies ^{53,97,98}. The suitability of the suckling rat as a study model relies on general practical advantages provided by the animal models such as those related to ethical

issues, availability, handling, etc. over and above the biological similarities as well as the accumulated knowledge for their characterization.

	Human	Rat
Gestation time	280 days	21-23 days
Placenta type	Hemochorial	Hemochorial
Maturation at birth	Precocious	Altricial
Weaning	1-20 weeks	19-22 days
Maturity	52 weeks	6-8 weeks

Table 1. Speceies, rats vs humans, comparison of placentation and development timing status.

Functional and structural changes in the digestive system occur in parallel to the changes in diet that occur from birth. At first, the neonates ingest colostrum and then milk. In rats, the suckling period lasts for the first 18-21 days of life, with a 2-week period of strict milk consumption in the beginning. Afterwards, the transition from a milk-based diet to solid food starts during the third postnatal week, the weaning period, which correlates with the gut maturation process ¹.



Figure 5. Timeline for the natural development of rats. Date of birth established as day 0. Intervals of 7d (days) were studied. Diet indication at each stage of age.

Precocious induced maturation – a research tool

Despite being considered a pre-programmed process during ontogeny, the mechanisms and regulating factors involved in the gut maturation process have not yet been fully defined. Gut maturation during normal development follows a series of changes that culminate during weaning. These changes are not only structural, but also functional.
It has been shown that maturation of the SI can be induced precociously by *i.e.* early weaning ⁹⁹, hormonal control (exogenous corticosteroids and thyroxin) ¹⁰⁰, enteral administration of polyamines ¹⁰¹ and the lectin phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) ¹⁰². Recently, luminal exposure to pancreatic and pancreatic-like enzymes with proteolytic activity has been shown to accelerate gut maturation in our research group (**paper I**).

Experimental models of precocious induced gut maturation have been developed in our group. These models of experimental gut provocation also performed in a splitted-litter manner, so the distribution of littermates between treatment and control groups contributes to reduce the variability between different litters. The studies on PHA-induced precocious maturation revealed the importance of oral administration since enteral PHA induced gut maturation and also affected the immune organs spleen and thymus, however, when parenterally administered PHA only had effects on the immune organs but gut maturation was not induced ¹⁰³. The original model consists of a moderate dose of 0.05 mg/g bwt of PHA and 0.6 mg/g bwt of microbial protease administered orally once per day for three days on days 14, 15 and 16 after birth, with sample collection and permeability test on day 17, 72 hours after the first treatment administration. Hence considering that natural changes are not evident until day 21 after birth.



Figure 6. Experimental model of precocious induced maturation. Birth is established as day 0. On day 14 after birth treatment by gavage with PHA or protease starts. It can either be a single dose (provocation) or 3 days once a day (14, 15 and 16 days after birth) with a lower dose. 72 hours after treatment initiation permeability test and sample collection are performed.

Furthermore, studies on induced precocious maturation revealed that it could also be achieved by a single administration of a higher dose 0.1 mg/g bwt of PHA and 0.8 mg/g bwt of microbial protease on day 14 and sample collection on day 17, 72 hours after the provocation (*unpublished data*). Thus, precociously induced maturation of the gut in the suckling rat provides a useful research tool to investigate the mechanisms behind gut development in a more defined time frame with a better control on the circumstances.

Scientific aims

Paper I – 'Involvement of pancreatic enzymes in gut maturation'

Previous studies on PHA-induced maturation of the gut in suckling rats showed that the pancreatic function was stimulated concomitantly. Consequently, the study aimed to investigate if the pancreatic enzymes themselves were involved in gut maturation. Thus, the main pancreatic enzyme activities were studied as well as their possible role and contribution to the maturational changes of GI tract in the suckling rat model.

Paper II – 'Characterisation of the developmental changes in the intestinal epithelial barrier'

Monitoring of a combination of changes occurring during postnatal development in the SI epithelium of suckling rats during natural and precociously induced maturation, emphasising the intestinal epithelial barrier properties, was done. The targeted parameters of the study included the expression of the FcRn receptor and the presence of endocytic vacuolated cells in the intestinal epithelium in relation to the transcriptional repressor Blimp1.

Paper III – 'Importance of the T-lymphocytes during gut maturation'

Previous studies on gut development in suckling rats had suggested that it was dependent on T-lymphocytes. Hence, a hypothesis on the requirement of T-lymphocytes activation during the neonatal period for the initiation of gut maturation was studied in the athymic nude animal model. Therefore, the effects of luminal provocation on precocious gut maturation in thymus-derived cells T-lymphocytes deficient suckling pups were studied.

Paper IV – 'Early effects of enteral provocation resulting in gut maturation'

Previous studies lead to the establishment of the protease- and PHA- induced precocious gut maturation experimental models in suckling rats by mimicking what occurs at weaning. However, only the effects of PHA had been investigated over time. In this study, the objective was to investigate the early effects after gut provocation with protease in comparison to PHA, with especial focus on intestinal permeability as well as exocrine pancreatic secretion stimulation. The main aim was to get a better understanding on what triggers the gut maturation process.

Methodology

Animals and ethics statement

The experiment was approved by the local Malmö-Lund Ethical Review Committee for Animal Experimentation and conducted in accordance with the European Community regulation concerning the protection of experimental animals (2010/63/EU) and the Swedish Animal Welfare Act (SFS 1988:539).

The studies were carried out using rats (*Rattus norvegicus*) of the Sprague-Dawley strain (Mol: SPRD Han; Taconic M&B, Denmark) and of the athymic T-cell-deficient (nude) strain (NIH-Foxn1^{mu}, Charles River Laboratories International Inc.) that were bred and kept under pathogen-free conditions in the Department Animal facility at Lund University $(20\pm1^{\circ}C, 50\pm10 \text{ RH}\%, 12:12 \text{ h}$ light-dark cycle). Before parturition, the pregnant dams were moved to separate cages (polycarbonate) with aspen wood bedding (Beekay B & K Universal AB), enriched with paper-nesting material (Sizzle-pet, Lillicobiotech). Parturition date was denominated as day 0 and litters were restricted to 10-12 pups for the study. All rat pups were kept with their dams during the experiments. The rat dams had free access to water and a rodent laboratory chow (R3, Lactamin) placed on the lid of cages. In order to prevent the pups from eating the solid chow, the cage height was increased using a 7 cm wall extender.

Experiments

The experiments were performed within experimental sets in a split-litter mode with random distribution of the rat pups from the same litter in the different groups to minimize variation. The pups were kept with their dam during the experiments or until postnatal day 21, after which the dam was separated from her litter.

– Paper I –

Induced precocious maturation was studied in groups of 14 day-old suckling rats gavaged by a soft stomach tube once a day for three days (14-16 days of age) with Creon 10000 (Abbott Products GmbH); microbial derived enzymes (Sigma-Aldrich): proteinase from *Aspergillius melleus* (type XXIII), a lipase from *Burkholderia cepacia* (Amano Lipase PS) and an α -amylase from *Aspergillius oryzae*; dissolved in water, while the control group received the vehicle (water).

– Paper II –

Natural development was studied in five age groups of litter-mates: suckling rats 7 day-old (7d) and 14 day-old (14d), on day 21 after birth, coinciding with the day of separation from their dam (21d), and two post-weaning groups at 28 day-old (28d) and 35 day-old (35d). Induced precocious gut maturation was studied on 17 day-old suckling rats that were gavaged once a day for three days (14-15-16 day-old) with microbial derived proteinase from *Aspergillius melleus* (type XXIII) or the purified lectin PHA from red kidney beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris*)^{102,104}, while the control group received the vehicle (water).

– Paper III –

The experiments were performed on the suckling nude pups in two different nursing sets. The first experimental set consisted of nude rats nursed by their natural dam (Nude/Nude). A second set consisted of nude pups reared by foster SD mothers (Nude/SD) from the 3rd post-natal day. Crossfostering of the nude pups was included to improve their survival and nutrition. Nude suckling rats were gavaged once a day (14 day-old) or once a day for three days (14-15-16 day-old) with the protease porcine pancreatic trypsin (Prot and Protx3) or purified PHA dissolved in water, while the control group received the vehicle (water). The experimental effects were studied at 17 day-old.

– Paper IV –

The early effects of gut provocation were studied in 14 day-old suckling rats at different time points, 1, 4, 8 and 24 hours, after the treatment. Each experimental litter included one of the treatments and controls at two different time points. The treatments administered were the protease porcine pancreatic trypsin or the purified lectin PHA and the control group received the vehicle, water.

Treatment	Origin	Source	Dose (mg/g b.wt)	Rat Strain	Exposure period (days of age)	Time of sacrifice after treatment	Study
Creon 10000	Sus scrofa (pancreatic porcine)	Abbott Products GmbH	1.5	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper I
Protease	Aspergillius melleus (type XXIII)	Sigma-Aldrich	0.5, 0.25, 0.125, 0.0625	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper I
Lipase	Burkholderia cepacia	Amano Lipase PS	0.06	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper I
α-Amylase	Aspergillius oryzae	Sigma-Aldrich	3.33	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper I
Protease	Aspergillius melleus (type XXIII)	Sigma-Aldrich	0.237	SD	14-16	72 h	Unpublished
Papain	Carica papaya (papaya fruit)	Sigma-Aldrich	0.237	SD	14-16	72 h	Unpublished
Bromelain	Ananas comosus (pineapple fruit)	Sigma-Aldrich	0.237	SD	14-16	72 h	Unpublished
Trypsin	Sus Scrofa (pancreatic porcine)	Nova	0.237	SD	14-16	72 h	Unpublished
PHA phytohaemagglutinin	Phaseolus vulgaris (red kidney beans)	Purified in house	0.05	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper II
Protease	Aspergillius melleus (type XXIII)	Sigma-Aldrich	0.4	SD	14-16	72 h	Paper II
PHA phytohaemagglutinin	Phaseolus vulgaris (red kidney beans)	Purified in house	0.1	NIH-Foxn1 ^{mu}	14	72 h	Paper III
PHA (PHAx3) phytohaemagglutinin	Phaseolus vulgaris (red kidney beans)	Purified in house	0.05	NIH-Foxn1 ^{mu}	14-16	72 h	Paper III
Trypsin	Sus scrofa (pancreatic porcine)	Novo	Ŧ	NIH-Foxn1 ^{mu}	14	72 h	Paper III
Trypsin (Protx3)	Sus scrofa (pancreatic porcine)	Novo	0.6	NIH-Foxn1 ^{mu}	14-16	72 h	Paper III
PHA phytohaemagglutinin	Phaseolus vulgaris (red kidney beans)	Purified in house	0.1	SD	14	1, 4, 8, 24 h	Paper IV
Trypsin (Protease)	Sus scrofa (pancreatic porcine)	Novo	0.8	SD	14	1, 4, 8, 24 h	Paper IV
*Abbreviations: mg/g bwt: mg pe	r g body weight; SD: Sprague	Dawley, NIH-Foxn1 ^{mu} : athymic	nude rat				

Table2. Overview of the agents, dose and exposure period used for enteral provocation to induce gut maturation within the studies.

39

Animal euthanasia and samples collection

On the designated collection day, the animals were anesthetized by a subcutaneous injection of a mixture of ketamine (Ketalar®, Pfizer) and azaperone (Stresnil®, Janssen Pharmaceutica) or isoflurane (Abbott) inhalation. At first, urine was collected during administration of the anaesthesia or directly from the bladder after laparotomy. Thereafter, the abdomen and thorax were opened; 1ml of blood was collected by direct heart-puncture into a syringe containing a mixture of anticoagulant and protease inhibitor. Plasma was obtained by blood centrifugation at 3000xg for 15 min at +4°C and stored at -20°C. Next, the SI was dissected from the pylorus to the ileo-caecal junction, and divided into a proximal and a distal half. The luminal content was flushed out. Intestinal samples, approximately 1cm long, were taken from the middle of each half and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 hours at room temperature and then kept in 70% ethanol until paraffin embedding, standard procedure. The rest of SI tissue was stored at -70°C until further analyses.

Study	Parameter	Analysis		
	Body Growth	Body Weight		
		Stomach Weight and pH		
	Organ Growth	SI Length		
		Spleen, SI Prox, SI Dist, Cae	cum and Liver Weight	
		Pancreas Weight		
Paper I	Pancreatic Function	Trypsin, Amylase and Lipase	Activity	
		Protein		
		Dissacharidases	Maltase, Sucrase, Lactase	
	Small Intestine	Protein		
		% Adult-Type Epithelium:	Dist: Non-Vacuolated Entetrocytes	
	In Vivo Permeability	Plasma	BIgG, BSA	
		Pancreas Weight		
	Pancreatic Function	Trypsin Activity		
		Protein		
		0/ Adult Turce Enithelium	Prox SI: FcRn Negative Enterocytes	
Dener II	_	% Adult-Type Epithelium	Dist SI: Non-Vacuolated Entetrocytes	
Paper II	Cmall Intenting		FcRn (Fcgrt)	
	Smail miestine	SI IIIKINA	Blimp1 (Prdm1)	
		011110	FcRn	
			Blimp1	
	Barrier Function	Plasma	RlgG	
	Body Growth	Body Weight		
	Organ Growth	Spleen, Stomach, SI Prox, S	I Dist, Ceacum and Liver Weight	
	organ orowin	SI Lenght		
	Pancreatic Function	Pancreas Weight		
		Trypsin Activity		
Paper III		Protein		
		Morphometry	Villi Length and Width, Crypt Depth	
	Small Intestine	% Adult-Type Epithelium	Dist: Non-Vacuolated Enterocytes	
		SI IHC	CD3+ Cells	
	Passive Immunity	Rat Immunoglobulins		
	In Vivo Permeability	Plasma	BIgG, BSA	
	Body Growth	Body Weight		
	Organ Growth	Spleen, SI Prox and SI Dist Weight		
		SI Lenght		
		Pancreas Weight		
	Pancreatic Function	Trypsin Activity		
Paper IV		Protein		
	Luminal Content	Trypsin Activity		
		Protein		
		Plasma	BlgG, HSA, FD70, FD4	
	In Vivo Permeability	Urine	Lactulose, Mannitol	
		Tissue – SI	FD70	

Table 3. Overview of the analysis performed within each study.

*Abbreviations: SI, small intestine; Prox, proximal; Dist, distal; BIgG, bovine immunoglobulin G; BSA, bovine serum albumin; FcRn, neonatal – Fc – receptor; Blimp1, B – lymphocyte induced maturation protein – 1; IHC, immunohistochemistry; RIgG, rat immunoglobulin G; HSA, human serum albumin; FD70, FITC – Dextran 70kDa; FD4, FITC – Dextran 4kDa

In vivo intestinal permeability

Intestinal macromolecular permeability was tested in vivo by gavage of a cocktail solution containing different marker molecules combinations in a volume of 0.025 ml/g b.wt via a flexible stomach tube. Three hours later, 1 ml of blood or all urine bladder content were collected during samples collection.

	Molecular Weight	Molecular Size (Ø, diammeter)	Biomolecule Type	Transport pathway	Dose (mg/gb.wt)	Sample	Assay	Paper
BIgG	~150kDa	~170Å	Antibody (Protein)	FcRn- mediated	0.25	Plasma	SRI	- − ≤
BSA	~70kDa	~100Å	Protein	Unspecific	1.25	Plasma	RocketIE	■ - -
HSA	66.5kDa	~100Å	Protein	Unspecific	1.25	Plasma	RocketIE	≥
FD70	~70kDa	60Å	Dextran (NDS)	'Unspecific'	1.25	Plasma SI tissue	Fluorometry Microscopy	≥
FD4	~4kDa	14Å	Dextran (NDS)	Paracellular	0.1425	Plasma	Fluorometry	2
Lactulose	342.3Da	~5Å	Dissacharide (sugar)	Paracellular	0.5	Urine	Enzymatic	2
Mannitol	182.2Da	~5Å	Monosaccharide (sugar)	Paracellular	0.3	Urine	Enzymatic	2
*Abbreviations digestable sug	s: BIgG: bovine immu ar; FcRn: neonatal-F	rnoglobulinG, BSA: b c-receptor; SI: small	ovine serum albumin; H intestine; SRI: single rad	SA: human serum alb dial immunodifusion; l	umin; FD70: FITC-D	extran-70kDa; FD	4: FITC-Dextran-4kDa is	1; NDS: Non-

Table 4. Overview of the different marker molecules and their properties used for *in vivo* permeability testing within each study.

Analyses

Histology and immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Small intestine sections 5 µm thick were deparaffinised and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) according to standard procedures. In addition, for immunohistochemistry analysis, antigen retrieval was performed with 10mM Citrate buffer pH 6 or 10mM Tris-EDTA buffer pH 9 in the microwave for anti-CD3 and anti-Blimp1, respectively. Afterwards, blocking of endogenous peroxidase was followed by incubation with blocking reagent to reduce background. Then, the incubation with primary antibodies, rabbit-polyclonal anti-FcRn (M-255, 1:600, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.), rabbit-polyclonal (PA5-20310, 1:40000, Invitrogen, ThermoFisher Scientific). anti-Blimp1 rabbit-monoclonal anti-CD3 (SP7, 1:100, Abcam), mouse-monoclonal anti-PAR2 (SAM-11, 1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or mouse-monoclonal anti-PCNA (PC10, 1:1500; DakoCytomation, Denmark A/S) in 1% BSA in 0.02M PBS was performed overnight at +4°C. Next day, a detection based on horse radish peroxidase (HRP)-Polymer detection (BiocareMedical, Llc.) was performed according to the manufacturer' specifications using DAB (3,3'-Diaminobenzidine) as substrate, except for PAR2 immunostaining. Finally, the sections were counterstained with haematoxylin, dehydrated and mounted under cover slip. Imaging was performed Microscopic examination was performed using an Olympus PROVIS microscope connected to an Olympus DP50 camera (Olympus, Japan).

Target	Primary Antibody	Clone	Source	Dilution	Study
FcRn	Rabbit-polyclonal	M-255	SCBT	1:600	Paper II
Blimp1	Rabbit-polyclonal	PA5-20310	Invitrogen	1:40000	Paper II
CD3	Rabbit-monoclonal	SP7	Abcam	1:100	Paper III
PCNA	Mouse-monoclonal	PC10	Dako	1:1500	Unpublished
PAR2	Mouse-monoclonal	SAM11	SCBT	1:1000	Unpublished

Table 5. Ov	erview of the	primary	antibodies	used f	or IHC.
-------------	---------------	---------	------------	--------	---------

*Abbreviations: FcRn, neonatal-Fc-receptor; Blimp1, B-lymphocyte induced maturation protein 1; CD3, cluster of differentiation molecule 3; PAR2, protease-activated receptor 2; PCNA, proliferative cell nuclear antigen; SCBT, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.

Control slides for unspecific binding of the HRP-Polymer detection kit were included. The specificity of the primary antibody anti-Blimp1 was verified by pre-incubation with the corresponding blocking peptide 30 min at RT (ratio 1:5 antibody:peptide, PEP-0430, Invitrogen, ThermoFisher Scientific Inc.) and followed the same immunostaining procedure.

Detection of PAR2 immunostaining was done with a secondary antibody fluorescent-labeled goat-anti-rabbit-DyLight®594 (Vector laboratories, Inc), with excitation in the red region in the spectrum, and the nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) according to standard procedures. Mounting under cover slip was done with Glycerol (1:1) in PBS. Imaging was done with a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH).

mRNA Expression by RT-qPCR

Reverse transcription of RNA followed by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) was performed for Blimp1 (Prdm1) and FcRn (Fcgrt) mRNA. Total RNA was extracted from proximal and distal portions of the small intestine (kept at -70°C) using the RNeasy1Mini Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Genomic DNA was eliminated during RNA extraction by using RNase-free DNase set (Qiagen) according to instructions. Total RNA concentration was determined by using Oubit1RNA HS assay kit (Life Technologies) in a Qubit12.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen) and 50-200ng of total RNA was used for reverse transcription (RT) per reaction. The RT reactions were performed with the RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific[™]) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The amount of cDNA was measured with Qubit1ssDNA assay kit (Life Technologies). RT-qPCR was performed using a C1000 Touch Thermal Cycler (BioRad) on 5-10ng (2ul of a 20µl RT reaction) of first strand cDNA using SsoAdvanced[™] Universal SYBR1Green Supermix (BioRad laboratories, USA) in triplicates, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The primers used were pre-designed on the rat sequence by the manufacturer (KiCqStart1 SYBR1 Green Primers, Sigma-Aldrich), and the ribosomal protein L13 (Rpl13a) was used as a housekeeping gene.

Gene	Cono	Primer sequence				
	Gene	Forward	Reverse			
	Prdm1	ATTTTTGGCGGATCTATTCC	AGGGATAGGCTTAATAGTGTAG			
Fcgrt		AAATAAATGGGACCTTCACAC	ACCAACGATATCTGTCTCC			
	Rpl13a	AGTTAAAGTATCTGGCCTTTC CTCTTTTGGTCTTGTGCG				
	*Abbreviations: (FcRn) gene, R	Prdm1, B-lymphocyte induced maturation protein PL13a, ribosomal protein 13 subunit A (housekeer	l (Blimp1) gene; Fcgrt, neonatal-Fc-receptor ing gene)			

Table 6.	Sequence	of primers	used in	paper II.

Amplification of the PCR products was preformed as follows: initial denaturing at 95°C, 3min, followed by 40 cycles (denaturing at 95°C, 15sec, annealing at 58°C, 30sec and a plate read). A melting curve for each primer was included at the end of the programfrom65°C to 95°C, with an increment of 0.5°C for 5sec and plate read. Melting curve analysis of PCR products indicated single products for each primers pair used.

Pancreatic homogenates

The pancreata were homogenized 1:10 (w/v) with ice-cold 0.2M Tris-HCl buffer + 0.05M CaCl₂, pH 7.8, with a glass homogenizer, centrifuged at 24000xg for 30 min at $+4^{\circ}$ C, and the supernatants were analysed.

Enzymology

Pancreatic homogenates were analysed after activation with enteropeptidase for characterisation of proteases-specific enzymatic activity after electrophoretic separation in agarose gel. The enzymatic activity was evaluated with different specific enzymatic substrates: trypsin activity, benzoyl-DL-arginine-4-nitroanilide (BAPNA); chymotrypsin-like activity, N-acetyl-DL-phenylalanine β -naphthyl ester (APNE); and elastase-like activity, N-CBZ-L-Ala- β -naphtyl-ester (CBZ-ANE), with Diazo Blue B as the precipitating salt.

The pancreatic homogenates after enterokinase activation and electrophoretic separation were also stained for all proteins after standard fixation with Commassie brilliant blue (CBB).

Luminal Content

Luminal content was collected from each half of the small intestine (proximal and distal) by flushing with 1 ml of ice-cold 0.2M Tris-HCl buffer + 0.05M CaCl₂, pH 7.8. Afterwards, they were mixed by shaking and with a vortex mixer, and then centrifuged at 24000xg for 30 min at $+4^{\circ}$ C, and the supernatants were further analysed.

Trypsin activity and protein content

Trypsin activity was determined spectrophotometrically using a microplate modification ¹⁰⁵ of the method of Fritz *et al.* ¹⁰⁶, after activation with enteropeptidase and benzoyl-DL-arginine-4-nitroanilide (BAPNA) as the substrate. The protein concentration was determined by the Lowry method with a modification for 96-well microplates ¹⁰⁷ and using purified BSA as the standard.

Diamine oxidase

Plasma diamine oxidase (DAO, EC 1.4.3.6) activity in plasma was measured by an enzyme-based colorimetric method, based on two coupled reactions ¹⁰⁸. In the first reaction, putrescine (P7505, Sigma-Aldrich) was used as a substrate for diamine oxidase, with hydrogen peroxide production. In the second reaction, HRP (Type VI, Sigma-Aldrich) decomposed peroxide in parallel to the oxidation of the chromogenic o-dianisidine (F5803, Sigma-Aldrich), which is registered at a wavelength of 440 nm. All the plasma enzyme activities were measured at 37° C and 1 unit of activity were defined as 1 µmol substrate formed per minute.

Immunoglobulins

Rat IgG quantification in plasma was used as an accumulative marker for the intestinal barrier function and the monitoring of the maternal transfer of passive immunity. Plasma IgG was quantified by single radial immunodiffusion ¹⁰⁹ using rabbit-anti-rat-IgG (Dako) as the precipitating antibody and purified rat IgG was used as the standard.

The BIgG concentration in plasma was also determined by single radial immunodiffusion using rabbit anti-BIgG (Sigma-Aldrich) as the precipitating antibody and purified BIgG (Sigma-Aldrich) as the standard.

Albumin

The concentrations of macromolecules marker in the blood plasma were measured in plasma collected 3 hours later and quantified by immunoassay. BSA and HSA marker concentration were measured by electroimmunoassay ¹¹⁰ using rabbit anti-BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) and rabbit anti-HSA (Dako), respectively, as the precipitating antibody and purified BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) and HSA (CSL Behring GmbH) as the standard.

FITC-Dextrans

Plasma

The concentration of the fluorescent markers FITC-Dextran 4 kDa and 70kDa (FD4 and FD70) (TdB Consultancy AB) in plasma was measured by fluorescent spectrophotometry with an excitation of 485nm (9nm band width) and an emission wavelength of 535nm (15nm band width), a dilution series of the corresponding FITC-dextran was used as standard. Serum from rats not administered with FITC-dextran was used to determine the background.

Small intestine

Detection of intestinal uptake of FD70 was done on intestinal sections of $5\mu m$ of thickness, deparaffinised and the nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue) according to standard procedures with mounting under cover slip with Glycerol (1:1) in PBS. Epifluorescence microscopy examination was performed using an Olympus microscope (Olympus, Japan) connected to a Nikon digital camera (Nikon Imaging Japan Inc.). DAPI was detected with the use of the filter within the violet range (400 - 418nm) and FD70 was detected with a blue filter (478 - 495 nm) in the spectral regions.

Lactulose and Mannitol

Urine lactulose (Meda AB) was quantified by a 3-step process oxidation of lactulose in presence of NADP to generate NADPH quantified with a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 340 nm. Urine mannitol (Sigma-Aldrich) was measured by the conversion of mannitol to fructose and NADH measured spectrophotometrically at a wavelength of 340 nm. In both the previous assays the generation of NADPH and NADH was proportional to the initial concentration of lactulose and mannitol, respectively¹¹¹. Analysis performed at the Department of Veterinary Clinical and Animal Sciences, University of Copenhagen. The ratio between concentrations of lactulose and mannitol (Lac:Man) were calculated.

Calculations and Statistics

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Organ weights were recalculated relative to body weight (mg/g b.wt) to minimize individual variation within groups. Pancreatic protein and trypsin activity were expressed relative to pancreatic wet-weight $(\mu g/mg)$ pancreas and U/mg the pancreas). Spectrophotometric measurements of absorbance and fluorescence were done in a 96 well plate reader SpectraMax i3x (Molecular Devices). Statistical analyses were done using Prism for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software, USA, www.graphpad.com). Microscopy images were adjusted and analysed using the ImageJ 1.49h software (Wayne Rasband, National Institutes of Health, USA; http://imagej.nih.gov/ij). Images captured of the enzymology gels were colour adjusted for distinction with Adobe Photoshop CC (2017).

Comparisons between one treatment and controls were performed with unpaired ttest. Comparisons between multiple treatments and the control group were performed with one-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparison post-test. Comparisons between multiple groups, at different ages or multiple control groups, were performed with one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons post-hoc test. Differences between groups were considered to be significant when p < 0.05 (*, §), p < 0.01 (**, §§), p < 0.001 (****, §§§), p < 0.0001 (****, §§§§), or non-significant (ns), respectively. Different letters were used to show significant differences (p < 0.05) when comparing multiple groups.

Results and Discussion

Protease-induced precocious gut maturation

In previous studies from our research group, the model of precocious PHA-induced maturation of the gut in suckling rats was established and the pancreas was suggested to play an important role during the process ^{102,103}. In **paper I**, oral gavage with pancreatic or pancreatic-like enzymes resulted in stimulated gut growth, increased gastric acid secretion and altered intestinal disaccharidase activity, with decreased lactase and increased maltase and sucrase activities. The foetal-type vacuolated enterocytes were replaced by the adult-type in the distal intestine and the transfer of macromolecules BSA and BIgG to the blood was declined. Protease enzyme activity was observed as the only pancreatic enzymatic activity capable of inducing precocious gut maturation in suckling rats in a dose-dependent manner. Hence, a new experimental model of induced precocious maturation of the gut was established.

Following the protease-induced gut maturation findings in **paper I**, proteases of different dietary and microbial origins were assessed to evaluate whether a variety of exogenous sources of proteolytic activity would be equally as effective in provoking precocious gut maturation. Investigation of the maturation status at 72 hours after administration of the different proteases (at the same dose) was achieved through the assessment of intestinal permeability *in vivo*, using a marker for receptor-mediated trancytosis, BIgG, and a marker for nonspecific uptake, BSA. The *in vivo* intestinal permeability results, following gavage of the marker molecules and the rat IgG are shown in Figure 7 (*unpublished data*). From the results obtained, it seemed that proteases, in general, are potentially capable of inducing precocious gut maturation, however not all were equally effective at the tested dose.



Figure 7. Intestinal in vivo permeability.

A) Plasma levels 3 hours after gavage of the marker molecules bovine IgG (BIgG, top pannel) and B) bovine serum albumin (BSA, lower pannel). C) Plasma levels of rat IgG (RIgG) as a cumulative marker of intestinal macromolecular permeability. The experiments were performed in 17 day old suckling rats after luminal provocation by gavage with microbial protease, papain, bromelain, trypsin or water once a day for 3 days (14-16 days-old) with the same dose for the different proteases. Data presented as mean \pm SD. Differences between each of the treatment groups and controls were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test and considered significant when p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (***), p < 0.0001 (***), or non significant.

The conclusions extracted from the results presented above included that of the exogenous proteolytic activity of different proteases such as pancreatic trypsin (including endogenous), or pancreatic-like enzymes of exogenous origin, such as papain from papaya fruit or bromelain from pineapple fruit as well as broad-spectrum enzymes of microbial origin from fungi, are capable of inducing precocious maturation of the gut, and hence, could be involved in triggering the process of gut maturation in neonatal rats.

Consequently, the ability to accomplish gut maturation experimentally in a defined and controlled time period by using the novel protease-induced precocious gut maturation, together with the previously described PHA-induced precocious gut maturation models in the suckling rat ^{102,103} and then compare the results to the naturally occurring changes in gut maturation endorsed further studies on the potential mechanisms involved in the initiation and process of postnatal gut development in suckling rats.

Maturation of the intestinal epithelium

A compilation study of parameters with potential use as markers for SI epithelial maturation was carried out in **paper II** during natural and precociously induced gut maturation. These parameters included the expression of FcRn, presence of vacuolated cells and expression of Blimp1 in the SI epithelium. As a cumulative marker for SI barrier function and absorptive capacity, plasma levels of rat immunoglobulins (IgG) were also measured. Immunostaining of FcRn showed high expression of the receptor in the enterocytes of the proximal SI of the suckling age groups, and it was markedly reduced after weaning (Figure 8A). The presence of vacuolated enterocytes only appeared in the distal SI of the suckling age groups, and they were no longer present from weaning.



Figure 8. Maturational changes in the small intestine epithelium.

A) Immunohistochemical staining of FcRn in the proximal SI and H&E staining (vacuolated enterocytes) in the distal SI in pre-weaning (suckling) and post-weaning rats. B) Correlation between the appearance of adult-type FcRn^{neg} cells in the proximal SI epithelium and the plasma levels of IgG. C) Correlation between the maturational appearance of adult-type epithelium in the proximal and the distal SI. Appearance of FcRn^{neg} cells in the proximal SI and the distal SI in 17 day old rats treated with PHA or protease for 3 days, to induce precocious gut maturation, compared to control rats.

The plasma level of IgG increased during the suckling period up until weaning, after which it temporarily decreased. Also, the appearance of the FcRn^{negative} cells in the proximal SI showed a negative correlation to plasma IgG absorption (Figure 8B). Finally, FcRn^{negative} cells in the proximal SI and non-vacuolated enterocytes in the distal SI epithelium replaced the immature enterocytes after weaning or induced precocious maturation. This developmental switch from foetal- to adult-type SI epithelium occurred in parallel in the proximal and the distal SI, with a strong correlation between the two (Figure 8C). Hence, the measurement of the presence of FcRn and/or vacuolated cells in the SI could serve as an estimation of the degree of maturation and can be used individually or in combination as histological markers for monitoring the development of the SI in the rat.

However, the need for non-invasive parameters to assess the maturational status of the gut became evident. Thus, the plasma diamine oxidase (DAO) and the urine excretion of Lactulose:Mannitol (Lac:Man) ratio, previously described as intestinal integrity and maturity markers, were considered worthy of further investigation. Hence, an enzymatic colorimetric method for measuring the intestinally derived enzyme DAO in plasma in young rats was developed and both parameters were monitored during natural development in rats of different age groups: suckling (7 - 14 day-old), weaning (21 day-old) and post-weaning (28 - 35 day-old) (Figure 9, upper panels); as well as in 17 day-old rats, 3 days after PHA and protease gavage (Figure 9, lower panels).

The plasma levels of DAO decreased in the 21 day-old group of rats (weaning) compared to the suckling groups, whereas the 28 day-old rats exhibited a marked increase in DAO (Figure 9A). A slight increase in DAO was observed in the precociously induced maturation models, especially in the protease-treated group compared to the controls even though the increase was not significant.

It has been shown that the high DAO intestinal activity localizes at the upper region of the villi in humans and rodents and is indicative of integrity but also maturity ¹¹². When the intestinal epithelium is damaged the concentration of DAO in plasma is reduced, and it increases again when the damage is repaired ^{113,114}, hence the levels of DAO in plasma reflect the size of the epithelial surface. Thus, the assessment of DAO levels as a non-invasive marker of gut health would reveal relatively low levels of DAO in suckling rats which would then be naturally lost at weaning (21 day-old) and would then further increase in post-weaning rats, compared to suckling levels. However, in 17 day-old rats it would seem that the protease treatment only had mild effects whereas the PHA-treatment had none. This could indicate that indeed during natural development in the post-weaning age groups the intestinal epithelium had undergone maturation and established epithelial integrity as well as being representative of the SI growth with age. Thus,



the increase in plasma DAO activity in the protease-treated rats could be indicative of induced maturation.

Figure 9. Intestinal integrity markers.

A) Diamine oxidase (DAO) in plasma. Plasma levels of DAO, considered a non-invasive marker for intestinal integrity. B) Lactulose:Mannitol ratio in urine. *In vivo* paracellular permeability measured as urine levels 3 hours after gavage of the marker molecules lactulose and mannitol. Both parameters were monitored during natural development (upper pannels) at 7, 14, 21, 28 and 35 day-old, with results shown as mean±SD, differences between different age groups were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test and indicated by different letters. Also measured, in 17 day-old suckling rats after luminal provocation (lower pannels) on day 14 by gavage with PHA, protease (microbial), trypsin or water (control); and as Tukey's boxplot ±inner limits, line indicating the median and '+' representing the mean. Differences between each of the treatment groups and controls were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. Significance was considered when p < 0.05 (*), or non significant. Note: Dotted lines indicating the mean of 17 day-old control for reference.

The lactulose and mannitol permeability test was performed during natural development (Figure 9B) and showed that in 14 day-old rat pups the Lac:Man ratio excreted in urine appeared to be the lowest and showed a tendency to increase at weaning. On the other hand, protease-treated 17 day-old rat pups showed a significant increase in the Lac:Man ratio, despite a high variation, and the PHA-treated group seemed to not be much affected.

The ratio of lactulose and mannitol excretion in urine is used to assess gut health, as a marker for dysfunctional permeability or leakiness ¹¹⁵. The purpose of using the Lac:Man ratio is mostly due to the compensation for incomplete sample collections, as well as gastric retention or bacterial degradation. However, it

assumes the premise that mannitol is absorbed from the intestines by passive diffusion, independent of any changes in gut permeability, and lactulose passes via the paracellular route, which is susceptible to changes in intestinal permeability ^{44,116}.

Moreover, the quantification of the total amounts of lactulose and mannitol excreted in the urine can also be informative, and reduced excretion of mannitol can be indicative of a reduction in epithelial surface ¹¹⁷. The results obtained indicate that the increased Lac:Man ratio observed in the 21 day-old rats was accompanied by decreased amounts of total mannitol excreted, as well as decreased amounts of total lactulose (Table 7). Differences in the urine volumes were also observed with lower production in the 21 day-old rats compared to that of the 14 and 28 day-old pups.

Table 7. Total amount of Mannitol (mg) and Lactulose (mg) excreted in urine during 3 hours after gavage in rats at 14, 21 and 28 days of age during natural development.

	14 days old	21 days old	28 days old			
Mannitol (mg)	0.83±0.18 ^a	0.20±0.17 b	0.84±0.29 ^a			
Lactulose (mg)	0.22±0.03ª	0.08±0.06 ^b	0.30±0.05°			
Urine (ml)	0.57±0.09 ^{ab}	0.29±0.17 ª	2.66±0.54 ^b			
Differences between diff	Differences between different age groups were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test.					

significant differences indicated by different letters.

In the induced precocious maturation groups, PHA and protease also caused a decrease in the total amount of mannitol excreted in the urine (Table 8). However, total amounts of lactulose and the urine volumes were not significantly affected when comparing 17 day-old treated rats to controls.

Table 8. Total amount of Mannitol (mg) and Lactulose (mg) excreted in urine during 3 hours after gavage in 17
day-old suckling rats after luminal provocation by gavage with PHA, protease (microbial), or water (control) at
14 days of age.

	Control	PHA	Protease
Mannitol (mg)	1.37±0.40	0.91±0.34**	0.93±0.34*
Lactulose (mg)	0.38±0.16	0.31±0.13	0.40±0.15
Urine (ml)	0.41±0.18	0.44±0.25	0.37±0.17

Differences between each of the treatment groups and controls were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test, considered significant: p < 0.0001 (****) or non significant.

Thus, it would seem that both PHA and protease decreased the total amounts of mannitol excreted in the urine, however the Lac:Man ratio was only significantly increased in the protease-treated group. The reduced mannitol excretion observed in the PHA and protease-treated groups corresponded to those levels obtained in the 21 day-old rat pups and thus could indicate some sort of dysfunctional permeability, or gut leakiness. Additionally, the increase in SI weight was

accompanied by a reduction in the total amount of SI epithelia. However, use of the Lac:Man ratio as an adequate parameter for estimating the maturational status should be further studied, since even though the protease-treated group of rats showed significant differences there was high variability within groups. Besides, disease diagnosis in humans by this method has often proven to be difficult as no reference is available for comparison, due to the high variability between individuals ¹¹⁸.

Taken together, the changes in plasma levels of DAO and urine excretion of Lac:Man both indicated that the weaning process could implicate a temporary decrease in integrity of the intestinal epithelium (damage) involving a natural (controlled) process of inflammation. This naturally occurring inflammation at weaning would also be supported by the Lac:Man ratio measurements with increased leakage after protease-treatment and reduced total amounts of mannitol excretion in 21 day-old, as well as PHA- and protease treated groups.

Nonetheless, the methods for measuring plasma DAO and urine Lac:Man in young rats showed limitations that should be further evaluated, in order to improve the sensitivity of the method.

Exocrine pancreatic function during development

In previous studies on PHA-induced maturation from our research group, the pancreatic exocrine function appeared to be affected, hence, the question of the possible role of the pancreas during gastrointestinal maturation arose. Thus, further investigations on changes in pancreatic function and pancreatic proteolytic activity expression were conducted during natural and precociously induced gut maturation.

The pancreatic function was monitored during natural development in suckling rats (Figure 10). Pancreatic weight increased markedly relative to body weight with age in a gradual manner. The pancreatic protein content levels started slightly higher in the suckling groups (7 and 14 day-old) and were maintained at similar levels with age, however at 35 days old there was a slight tendency to decrease. Pancreatic trypsin activity was initially higher, with a decrease noted at 14 days old, and then a slight increase with age, that seemed to reach a plateau at weaning.

The ratio of trypsin:protein in the pancreas was calculated to estimate the maturity of pancreatic function. This ratio showed that 7 day-old rats have accumulated exocrine enzymes and the subsequent decrease in 14 day-old rats indicates that secretion was stimulated. Afterwards, the pancreatic trypsin:protein ratio increased with age. Overall, it could be perceived that the changes in pancreatic protein and

trypsin content were not major, however, the increase in pancreatic weight relative to body weight, which was especially marked from weaning (21 day-old), indicates that the total amount of protein and trypsin activity increased.



Figure 10. Pancreatic function during natural development in young rats.

Changes in pancreatic function during natural development: suckling period (7 and 14 days old), at weaning (21 days old) and post weaning ages (28 and 35 days old). A) pancreatic trypsin (U/g b.wt), B) protein content (mg/g b.wt) C) trypsin:protein ratio (U/mg protein) and D) pancreatic growth (mg pancreas/g b.wt). All data presented as mean±SD. Differences between different age groups were analysed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc test, significance indicated by different letters.

Furthermore, the changes in enzymatic activity in the pancreas during development were studied using a qualitative method, which made use of a variety of substrates that were either more or less specific. The results obtained showed major differences in the electrophoretic pattern of different enzymatic activities in pancreatic homogenates (Figure 11, *unpublished data*).



Figure 11. Enzymatic activity characterisation of pancreatic proteases during natural development in rats. Protein pattern after staining with CBB (Coomassie Brilliant Blue) and specific enzymatic activity in pancreas homogenates analysed after electrophoretic separation in agarose gel with the specific chromogenic substrates: BAPNA (trypsin-like activity), APNE (chymotrypsin-like activity), and CBZ-ANE (elastase-like activity).

The proteolytic activity in pancreas homogenates showed changes in pattern during postnatal development in rats, and staining for all proteins with CBB was used as reference for electrophoretic mobility. Trypsin-like activity, detected by BAPNA substrate, appeared with a band of anodal trypsin that increased with age. Chymotrypsin-like activity, detected with APNE substrate, revealed a cathodal chymotrypsin band with decreasing activity with age. At last, elastase-like activity, revealed with CBZ-ANE specific substrate, revealed a band mostly present in 7 day-old suckling rats.

In brief, the most notorious difference observed between the different age groups was the band with anodal elastase-like activity and it was confirmed by enzymoblotting (not shown). However, due to the slight changes in proteolytic activity patterns and the qualitative character of the technique with its limitations, further investigations would be interesting to pursue.

Precociously induced gut maturation

Pancreatic function has previously shown to be increased after PHA gavage ¹⁰². More recently, exposure to proteolytic pancreatic or pancreatic-like enzymes also promoted pancreas growth as well as increased amylase and trypsin production in rat pups (paper I). Furthermore, the results showed that protease and PHA could also increase the pancreatic trypsin production in athymic nude rat pups (paper III). Hence, PHA and protease exposure in both rat strains, conventional and immunodeficient, caused not only maturation of the gut but also stimulated maturation of endogenous exocrine pancreatic function ^{18,24,102}. Thus, the increase in exocrine pancreatic enzyme production, especially that of proteinase, may be essential for initiation of the maturation process as an endogenous stimuli responsible for initiating gut maturation after release of the accumulated enzymes into the lumen. However, changes in pancreatic proteolytic enzymatic activity were not analysed during induced precocious maturation in suckling rats. Hence, more studies are needed to investigate the role of proteases with different proteolytic activities in the gut during development, and elastase could perhaps also be considered as a potential study target.

Due to the suggested importance of proteolytic enzymes in the gut, immunostaining of the protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR2) in the SI during natural development in suckling rats was performed. The results showed high expression of the receptor in both proximal and distal parts of the SI during natural development in rats (Figure 12, *unpublished data*) with epithelial localisation in both apical and basolateral sides of the enterocytes, especially during the suckling period. PAR2 was also localized in solitary cells in the *lamina propria*, in increasing numbers with age, presumably immune cells.



Figure 12. Confocal microscopy imaging of PAR2 immunostaining in the small intestine of young rats. Immunohistochemical staining of PAR2 (red) and nuclei (DAPI, blue) in the small intestine of 14 day-old (left) and 21 day-old (right) rats. Note (white arrows): epression of PAR2 apical and basolaterally along the epithelia in 14 day-old rats, in 21 day-old rats positive PAR2 staining in cells in the lamina propria as well as in the epithelium. (scale bar 50µm).

Early effects of the provocative agents

Precocious gut maturation can be induced 3-4 days prior to the natural temporal frame, on postnatal day 21, by enteral provocation with the previously mentioned PHA ¹⁰² and proteases (**paper I**). The effects of PHA- and protease- induced precocious gut maturation models can be differentiated in an early phase, within the first 24 hours after provocation, and a late phase, from 24 up to 72 hours after treatment administration, when the time allows for a complete renovation of the intestinal epithelia ^{119,120} (*unpublished data*, J Wang). The progression of the PHA induced provocation has been previously studied and revealed that during the early phase PHA binds to the brush border of the epithelia instigating a mucosal disturbance, seen as villi atrophy and decreased permeability, increased plasma corticosterone and pancreatic secretion, as well as intensified recruitment of lymphocytes to the gut mucosa ^{119,120}.

The early effects of protease and PHA within 24 hours after enteral provocation were further investigated in **paper IV**. Both provocative agents caused weight loss and diarrhoea, and even though the effects of protease gavage on growth and performance were more severe, the pups recovered faster than those that were treated with PHA. Both treatments showed stimulation of gut growth within 24 hours, and pancreatic function was immediately enhanced as evidenced by the pancreas homogenates and luminal content analyses. Noteworthy, in the PHA

treated group, trypsin activity in the luminal content was initially depressed compared to that of the controls during the first 4 hours after gavage, thereafter trypsin started to increase coinciding with decreasing trypsin activity in the pancreas, indicating a stimulation of pancreatic secretion by the PHA treatment, albeit somewhat delayed ¹²¹⁻¹²³.

Intestinal barrier function

The SI epithelium in young rats has high permeability until weaning, which is an important property to allow the passage of milk-borne bioactive molecules, *i.e.* milk-borne IgG, lactoferrin, etc. However, it is also essential for intestinal permeability to be highly regulated in order to preserve the barrier function, preventing the passage of potentially harmful dietary or microbial molecules⁴⁵.

Hence, the passage across the intestinal epithelium is highly regulated and susceptible to changes. During development, the gut undergoes the characteristic shift in the SI epithelia from the highly endocytic foetal-type enterocytes, expressing the FcRn in the proximal SI and containing supranuclear vacuoles in the distal SI, to adult-type enterocytes, which are FcRn^{negative} and non-vacuolated respectively, and display a marked decrease in the absorptive capacity to macromolecules (**paper II**). Thus, at weaning the so-called "closure" process takes place, providing an increased barrier function when the protection of the maternal factors is no longer available.

Thus, intestinal permeability can be used to monitor not only the barrier function properties in young rats but also as a parameter for estimating the maturational status induced by provocative agents. In previous studies, it has been shown that PHA and proteases (**paper I**) induce precocious gut maturation and closure of the small intestine to the passage of intact macromolecules, such as BIgG and BSA, 3 days after exposure. The effects on permeability could also be observed in the measured cumulative marker of RIgG, which was also diminished within the 3 days after exposure to PHA and protease. Additionally, the Lac:Man ratio obtained from permeability tests performed on those suckling rats indicated that the PHA and protease treatments, as well as natural weaning, involved changes in the intestinal barrier properties. PHA exposure has been shown to severely decrease permeability immediately ¹¹⁹, but studies on the early effects of proteases on intestinal permeability were still needed.

Hence, **paper IV** was designed to further investigate the early effects of proteases on intestinal permeability by monitoring the different absorptive routes over time after exposure, and compare them with those induced by PHA. At first, a marker cocktail containing BIgG, HSA and FD4 was used. Both treatments rapidly and markedly decreased plasma BIgG levels, indicating that FcRn receptor-mediated

endocytosis was severely affected by PHA and protease exposure. The loss of absorptive capacity via the receptor-mediated pathway was not restored within 24 hours after either of the treatments. The absorption of marker HSA was prominently lower already 1 hour after gavage in the PHA treated group, while in the protease treated group it decreased progressively and became significantly lower at 8 hours after provocation. This indicated different effects of the two treatments on the nonspecific endocytosis of macromolecules, and specifically HSA absorption seemed to be less sensitive to the effects of protease provocation. FD4 was used to trace the paracellular permeability ¹²⁴. In the PHA treated group no effect on the FD4 plasma level was observed compared to control. However, the protease treatment caused an increase in FD4 within the blood circulation early after provocation and decreased gradually up until 24 hours after provocation. The dysfunctionality of the intestinal barrier can be estimated by the measurement of paracellular permeability; hence protease treatment caused an instant increase in the leakiness of the intestinal barrier, which seemed to be overcome within 24 hours.

The IgG uptake takes place via the FcRn receptors expressed by the enterocytes in the proximal SI ¹²⁵ (paper II), and non-specific endocytosis mostly takes place in the distal SI by the vacuolated enterocytes with high endocytic capacity ^{7,63}. However, the absorption of Ig via the non-specific pathway cannot be excluded. foetal-type epithelial cells are replaced by FcRn-negative These and non-vacuolated adult-type enterocytes, respectively, during postnatal maturation in suckling rats ¹¹⁹ (**paper I**), but it is known that the complete renewal of the gut mucosa takes 3-5 days in young rats ^{5,6}. Hence, the provocative agents likely affect the intestinal absorption of different macromolecules via different mechanisms. PHA binds to carbohydrate structures in the brush-border of the intestinal epithelium in the suckling rat ¹¹⁹, evidently blocking all intestinal absorptive capacity. Then, PHA would cause reduced permeability due to physical impediment for the absorptive cells to reach the molecules in the luminal content due to the binding of the lectin to the epithelial surface. Protease provocation, however, provoked a dysfunctional permeability, with increased leakiness of the gut barrier for the first 24 hours after provocation, which was considered worthy of further investigation.

Consequently, re-evaluation of the different permeability routes was done with a new cocktail containing lactulose and mannitol, as tracers of the paracellular route, as well as the non-degradable fluorescence-labelled dextran FD70, to track the unspecific macromolecular uptake, together with the BIgG and HSA markers as references. The results obtained showed an increased Lac:Man ratio excreted into the urine, which reassured the increased paracellular permeability and thus, dysfunctional permeability or leakiness of the gut. The plasma level of FD70 increased already 1 hour after provocation with protease, indicating that even

though having a comparable molecular weight to HSA, it was not absorbed in a similar way. The pattern of absorption of FD70, instead was more similar to that of the markers used to monitor the paracellular passage, such as FD4 and the Lac:Man ratio.

Even though the molecular weight of FD70 is similar to that of albumin, the molecular diameter differs between the two molecules, being ~ 100 Å for HSA whereas that of FD70 is ~ 60 Å. The study of the epithelial uptake of FD70 by fluorescence microscopy provided additional information showing a rapid decrease in the endocytic uptake in the proximal SI while the uptake in the distal SI increased, which supported the increased plasma level of FD70. Thus, the microscopic analysis revealed epithelial uptake of FD70 via both transcellular, including the large supranuclear vacuoles, as well as paracellular routes, however further investigation is needed to improve and confirm these results due to the limited resolution of the method used.

It has been reported that activation of PAR2 by proteases can induce changes in paracellular permeability by disassembling the intestinal tight junctions, causing loosened pore diameter, allowing molecules of bigger sizes to pass ¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸. Proteins such as claudins, zonulin and occludin form the intestinal tight junctions; which regulate paracellular permeability and can indicate dysfunctional barrier function, as reviewed by Bischoff *et al.* (2014) ⁴⁴, and specifically zonulin (haptoglobin-related protein) has been associated with PAR2 activation ^{127,129} Moreover, despite the lack of studies on immune cell recruitment in the protease-induced gut maturation, it is also known that proteases can cause the activation of pro-inflammatory pathways via the PAR2 receptor.

Involvement of the immune system in gut maturation

A relation between maturation of the digestive and immune systems was shown in mice when the absence of adaptive and/or passive immunity temporarily delayed the maturation progress and affected developmentally regulated genes in the enterocytes during suckling and weaning ⁹². Furthermore, natural weaning has been associated with a 'physiological inflammatory' process with immune cell recruitment to the gut due to the release of chemokines and cytokines by the enterocytes ¹³⁰. Previous studies from our lab have shown that PHA-induced maturation also involves initial inflammation followed by recruitment of T- and B-lymphocytes to the SI mucosa ¹²⁰. Thus, further studies were engaged on the involvement of the immune system in the maturation of the GI tract in neonatal rats.

Involvement of Blimp1

The transcription factor B lymphocyte induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp1) plays an important immune role in differentiation of B-lymphocytes to plasma cells ¹³¹, as well as T-lymphocyte homeostasis and function ¹³², mainly effector T-cells, including the suppression of IL2 production ¹³³.

However, Blimp1 expression has been described in the postnatal intestine epithelium with a drastic decreased in expression at weaning in mice ^{93,94}. These studies suggested that the transcription factor Blimp1 was a key regulatingelement in the gut, keeping the enterocytes adapted to suckling. Also, Blimp1 knockout mice developed more severe colitis due to their role in inhibiting T-lymphocytes, and hence a role in intestinal mucosa homeostasis was attributed ¹³⁴. More recently, another study showed that the loss of Blimp1 expression in the intestine at weaning was coincident with a marked increase in expression of MHC class I in the SI, in relation to antigen processing ¹³⁵.

Hence, Blimp1 was included in the **paper II** study, in which its expression was monitored in parallel to the expression of FcRn and the presence of supranuclear vacuoles in IECs. Blimp1 gene expression (Prdm1 mRNA) was higher in the distal SI and then decreased at weaning, which would fit with the decrease at weaning previously found in mice. In the proximal SI, the expression of Blimp1 was found to be lower but more constant than in the distal part. However, the immunostaining of the proximal and distal parts of the SI showed that Blimp1 was highly expressed in the nuclei of the immature enterocytes in the villi of the SI and underwent intracellular redistribution, from nuclei to cytoplasm, during weaning or induced maturation.

Furthermore, Blimp1 immunostaining was also observed in both the proximal and the distal parts of the SI in all age groups not only in enterocytes but also in cryptregion cells; epithelium-associated cells, presumably IELs; cells in the *lamina propria* and the submucosa, most likely immune cells and in cells between the muscular layers, potentially cells of the myenteric plexus (enteric nervous system). The distribution and localization of Blimp1 in the gut during development seems to suggest that cells susceptible to inflammation could express Blimp1.

Blimp1 has been described as a reciprocal antagonist with Bcl6 in lymphocytes ^{136,137}, using Blimp1 as a marker for maturation and Bcl6 as a marker for proliferation. In the intestinal epithelium, proliferation occurs in the stem cells and "+4 cells" in the crypts. In early life, slow migration rate has been described at the same time as high proliferation in the intestinal epithelium, leading to the speculation that perhaps maturation and proliferation could be key regulators of cell fate in the SI. Proliferation was also investigated by immunostaining of the proliferative cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) in the SI, and the results (*unpublished*

data, Figure 13) showed that vacuolated foetal-type cells in the distal SI in 7 dayold rats were PCNA⁺. Hence, Blimp1 could be suggested as a repressor of differentiation in proliferative cells (transit amplifying cells) but an apoptotic/cell fate label in highly mature and differentiated cells.



Figure. 13 Proliferative cells in 7 day-old suckling rats

Immunohistochemical staining of PCNA (brown) with haematoxylin counterstaining (blue) in the proximal (left) and the distal (right) parts of the villi in the small intestine of 7 day-old suckling rats (magnification of 200x, scale bar 100µm). Note: positive immunostaining in the nuclei of polifereative vacuolated foetal-type enterocytes in the distal SI.

In summary, despite the differences found in Blimp1 expression in the intestinal epithelia between neonatal mice and rats, the participation of the transcriptional repressor in the gut could still be preventing/delaying the replacement of the foetal-type for adult-type epithelium until weaning, and therefore more studies are needed to elucidate the role of Blimp1 as a regulating factor of gut maturation in neonatal rats. Nonetheless, the expression of Blimp1 in the gut mucosa contributed to emphasise the importance of the immune system in the gut and the potential involvement in gut maturation.

Role of mucosal T-lymphocytes

The importance of T-cell recruitment to the neonatal mucosa is essential for gut maturation and immune system activation, including the establishment of oral tolerance in early life ^{31,32}. It is known that CD3⁺ IELs can already be found on the first day after birth and progressively increase during the suckling period ³⁶. In neonatal nude rats, mature T-lymphocytes cannot develop and CD3⁺IELs and LPLs do not appear until between four to six months of age ¹³⁸. Recruitment of T- and B-lymphocytes to the gut mucosa has previously been observed in the PHA-induced precocious gut maturation model in suckling rats¹²⁰. Additionally, studies using the immunosuppressant drug Cyclosporine A, which is an inhibitor of IL2 transcription and results in reduction of T-cell activity, showed a decrease in intestinal growth with signs of delayed gut maturation ⁹⁰ and could also block PHA-induced precocious maturation ¹³⁹.

Thus, induced precocious gut maturation after exposure to protease and PHA in the immunodeficient athymic nude rat model was investigated in **paper III**. Provocation with both, PHA or protease, resulted in increased gut growth and precocious maturation, with epithelial replacement of foetal- by adult-type non-vacuolated enterocytes in the distal SI, decreased intestinal macromolecular permeability (gut closure) and increased pancreatic function in the treated pups.

The immunostaining of CD3⁺cells, marker for T-cell lineage, of the intestinal mucosa in the nude rats was performed and included in **paper III**. The results obtained showed the presence of CD3⁺cells in the gut of the nude pups, but much fewer compared to conventional SD pups, which remained unaltered by induced maturation. Interestingly, nurturing of nude rats by immunocompetent SD dams increased macromolecular absorptive capacity in the nude rats.

The presence of mature T-lymphocytes in the conventional and nude suckling rat pups, albeit in low amounts, could be explained by the ability of milk-borne immune cells, including maternal T lymphocytes, to translocate to the intestinal mucosa, where they can be activated by luminal antigens, during the early postnatal period as found in rabbits, mice, and humans 25,140,141 . The role of the maternally transferred immune cells on intestinal maturation has not yet been elucidated. However, in the present study mucosal CD3⁺ cells were investigated in athymic nude rat pups nurtured by nude or euthymic dams, but no differences in the amounts of CD3⁺ cells were observed.

This study showed that gut maturation is independent of thymus-mediated regulation despite previous studies suggesting that gut maturation was T-cell mediated. However, nude rats are not totally depleted of bone-marrow derived T-cell precursors and mucosal T-lymphocytes (CD3⁺cells) were present and unaffected by enteral provocation to induce precocious gut maturation. The

extrathymic development of T-lymphocytes has been reported to take place in the MLNs from where they migrate and accumulate in the intestine mostly as IELs ¹⁴², as well as in the gut mucosa ^{143,144}. Moreover, other studies in young nude rats have shown the presence of activated mature T-lymphocytes in the MLNs during weaning in approximately the same amount as those found in euthymic young rats ¹⁴¹. Hence, thymus-derived T-lymphocytes are not indispensable for gut maturation but non-thymus derived T-lymphocytes cannot be underestimated. Furthermore, the immune system during the neonatal period shows adjustments to the T-cell deficient function in nude rats, with an increase in alternative cell types that can compensate for the essential roles of T-cell signalling ¹⁴⁵. Suitable candidates, besides the T-lymphocytes, with shared cytokines signalling could be natural killer cells, mast cells and activated DCs as reviewed by Boyman and Sprent (2012) ¹⁴⁶.

It has been proposed that *lamina propria* T helper cells (T_h) are mediators of IECs differentiation and they contribute to the maintenance of the epithelial barrier function ¹⁴⁷. It is also known that T_h cells in the neonatal intestine in mice are inhibited by T_{reg} and IgA-mediated antigen translocation ⁸⁰. However, increasing studies on the novel role of innate lymphocytes (ILCs) in the GI tract have recently been published and have provided evidence that ILCs would be the counterpart of T-lymphocytes in the innate immunity ¹⁴⁸, with a role as integrative glial-cell-derived factors and as the receivers and regulators of multisystem signalling in the gut ¹⁴⁹. Furthermore, a specific type of ILCs (type 3) are described as the first immune cells to colonize the neonatal intestine ¹⁵⁰, and to express MHC class II in the absence of the co-stimulatory signals, with a proposed mechanism of immune response inhibition ¹⁵¹. Thus, ILCs could play the role which has for a long time been attributed to T-lymphocytes, as regulators of developmental processes especially those occurring in the GI tract.

The conclusions extracted from **paper III** included that of the ability of proteases to induce precocious gut maturation in the nude rat model suggests proteases, endogenous or exogenous, could be the stimuli triggering gut maturation. Hence, indicating that the adaptive immune system, especially T-lymphocytes, has more of a supporting role during gut maturation than as an instigator, and perhaps it is the extrathymic T-lymphocytes that might be of importance. However, more studies are required to elucidate the full mechanism of intestinal maturation in mammals.

Possible mechanisms for initiating gut maturation

Gut provocation – Induced precocious maturation

Phytohaemagglutinin

It is known that PHA rapidly binds directly to the small intestine epithelial surface after gavage ^{24,102,119,152}, and it has been shown to stimulate the release of cholecystokinin (CCK), the stimulatory hormone of exocrine pancreatic secretion ^{121,153}. However, the stimulation of pancreatic growth and secretion by PHA (**paper IV**) is only partially regulated by a CCK–dependent mechanism ¹²³. Besides, CCK receptors have been shown to be less expressed and thus less sensitive to secretagogues during the suckling period compared to at weaning in the rat ^{154,155}. Nevertheless, in a study by Linderoth, *et al.* (2006) it was shown that PHA stimulates the secretion of pancreatic enzymes 3 hours after gavage ¹¹⁹. More importantly, it has also been shown that for PHA to induce precocious gut maturation it is essential that it is administered orally ¹⁰³, reflecting the importance of the enteral stimulation in early life for an appropriate gut development.

The binding of PHA to the epithelial surface and the interaction with the brushborder molecules of the IECs could activate or cross-activate receptors such as PARs, TLRs, LBRs, etc. the activation of all of which leads to the signalling of the inflammatory NFkB pathway. Moreover, PHA has been shown to pass across the intestinal barrier and induce immune cell recruitment to the intestinal mucosa ¹⁵⁶, and thus, stimulation of the release of immune proteases and activation of PAR2 endogenously, not only in the epithelia but also in the enteric nervous system ¹⁵⁷. PAR2 has also been found in enteric nervous system cells, such as myenteric and submucosal neurons, exposed to endogenous immune proteases, PHA antigenic presence in the mucosal site could also stimulate neuronal pathways and consequently, pancreatic stimulation.

Proteases

Exogenous proteases of diverse origin such as pancreatic-like enzymes from dietary and microbial sources can accelerate gut maturation after luminal exposure (**paper I, paper III,** and Figure 7). However, the intestinal milieu during the suckling period in rats is characterised by the presence of maternal milk-borne protease inhibitors, together with an immature pancreatic function, and thus low proteolytic activity in the intestinal lumen ⁴⁹. At weaning, the change of milk diet to solid food may stimulate the secretion of exocrine pancreatic enzymes, gradually increasing the proteolytic activity in the lumen from the 3rd postnatal week. Moreover, the pancreatic function not only increases its proteolytic activity content (trypsin activity) but also a change in the specific enzymatic pattern was

preliminary shown (Figure 11). PAR2 is expressed in the GI tract, especially in the enterocytes in the SI (Figure 12) and in pancreatic acinar cells ⁷³. Interestingly, the most evident change in the pancreatic enzymology during development was an increased elastase-like activity in 7 day-old rat pups (Figure 11). Furthermore, elastase activity has been shown to have a diminishing effect on PAR2 receptors, *i.e.*, disarming them by enzymatic cleavage, in the respiratory epithelium ¹⁵⁸. Thus, the high activity of pancreatic elastase found during the early suckling period might play a similar role, inactivating PAR2 and postponing SI maturation.

PAR2 mediated gut maturation – a hypothesis

The experimental protease- and PHA-induced precocious gut maturation models used in the studies included in this thesis seem to indicate that PAR2 might be a suitable candidate for further investigations as a trigger mechanism to provoke gut maturation.

It has been shown that PAR2 is expressed in the apical and basolateral sides of SI enterocytes of adult ⁷³ and newborn rats (Figure 12). Thus, the distribution of PAR2 in the intestinal epithelium makes it an optimally distributed sensor of both the exogenous or luminal proteases from pancreatic, dietary or microbial origins, as well as endogenous immune-derived proteases available in the gut mucosa, such as mast cell tryptase ¹⁵⁹ or neutrophil derived elastase. For instance, the change in microbiota with increasing gram-negative bacteria at weaning due to the dietary transition from milk to solid food and neonatal exposure to LPS affects pancreatic secretion in adult rats ¹⁶⁰, and the activation of TLR4 has been indirectly linked to PAR2 ^{161,162}. Moreover, PHA-induced gut maturation showed recruitment of immune cells to the gut mucosa after exposure, in support of PAR2 activation from the basolateral side, however immune-cells recruitment during protease-induced gut maturation has not yet been fully elucidated.

The activation of the PAR2 receptor has been associated with different functions, such as signalling to enterocytes, inflammatory cells or the enteric nervous system ¹⁶³ and immune cell recruitment ^{164,165}. PAR2 receptor activation has also been reported to affect gut health, triggering of pro-inflammatory responses in the SI epithelia ⁷³, mucus secretion ¹⁶⁶, changes in paracellular permeability ^{126,127,129} as well as proliferation and differentiation of epithelial cells. A model of PAR2 knockout mice showed a delayed onset of gut inflammation ¹⁶⁵, but it never has been studied in relation to the maturational changes occurring in the gut.

Thus, PAR2 could be involved in gut maturation by coordinating the intestinal epithelial replacement from foetal-type to adult-type (**paper I and III**), the pancreatic function maturation (**papers III and IV**; Figure 10) and the immune system activation that occurs during postnatal development in rats. It would be

plausible to relate the activation of PAR2 with the initiation of gut maturation in the young, occurring at weaning, which is associated with vast changes in the SI mucosa that lead to the concept of 'physiological inflammation' ¹³⁰. Thus, PHA recruitment of immune cells to the gut mucosa and the decrease in intestinal integrity (DAO, Lac:Man ratio, FD4, FD70) caused by enteral proteases (**paper IV** and Figure 10) could similarly mimic the naturally occurring inflammatory events.

The presented hypothesis proposes gut maturation as the result of the crosstalk between environmental changes (dietary and microbial), the intestinal barrier, the pancreatic function and immunity and suggests that gut maturation could be mediated via PAR2. Thus, further studies are needed for the elucidation of more details.


Conclusions

– Paper I –

- Pancreatic and pancreatic-like enzymes with proteolytic activity were found to provoke gut maturation in neonatal rats, while other enzyme activities had no effects.
- An alternative model of induced precocious maturation by enteral exposure to proteases in the suckling rat was established.

– Paper II –

- ➤ The developmental switch from foetal- to adult-type SI epithelium, with decreased FcRn expression in the proximal SI and replacement of vacuolated enterocytes in the distal SI, are correlated to and can be used for monitoring gut maturation in neonatal rats.
- ➤ The timing of the maturational changes with the intracellular redistribution of the transcription factor, Blimp1, indicates involvement in the regulation of SI maturation and supports the idea that postnatal development of the digestive and the immune systems of the gut are connected.

– Paper III –

- Precocious gut maturation can be induced by oral provocation in immunodeficient athymic nude rat pups, similarly to in conventional neonatal rats, indicating that gut maturation is independent from thymus-derived Tlymphocytes.
- ▶ Involvement of extrathymic T-lymphocytes in gut maturation might be a possibility, since few mucosal CD3⁺ cells were found in neonatal athymic rats.

– Paper IV –

- ► Enteral PHA or protease exposure hampered the high intestinal macromolecular permeability (endocytosis) in neonatal rats while protease exposure also temporarily increased the intestinal paracellular leakiness.
- The different early effects on intestinal permeability of the two provocative agents after enteral exposure indicate that they initiate gut maturation via different mechanisms.

– General –

- ➤ Using the suckling rat as a model provides us with evidence that postnatal gut maturation, naturally at weaning or precociously induced by enteral provocation, is initiated by luminal cues affecting the intestinal epithelium involving an activation of the immune system and pancreatic function.
- Contributing to an increased understanding of the initiating cues and the mechanisms of maturation of the intestinal barrier in young mammals, the knowledge could perhaps be applied in translational studies to improve strategies for the prevention or treatment of gut-related complications often affecting premature infants.

Future studies and perspectives

Our results indicate that the protease-sensitive receptor PAR2 in the gut may be a possible common mediator of exogenous stimuli and endogenous signalling occurring during gut maturation, natural or in both models of experimentally induced precocious maturation, by exposure to proteases and PHA.

- Further characterisation of the pancreatic enzymatic profile during gut development could provide us with a better of understanding of the possible role of pancreatic function in inducing gut development.
- Assessing whether the exocrine pancreas plays a role in facilitating or preventing postnatal gut maturation, which could be done by stimulation of pancreatic secretion to induce precocious gut maturation.
- Assessing whether the luminal proteases in general play a role in facilitating or preventing postnatal gut maturation, which could be done by using PAR2 agonists and antagonist molecules in our experimental induced precocious maturation models.

• The potential role of endogenous proteases, such as mast cell tryptase, in activation of PAR2 could be investigated by the use of mast cell degranulation or stabilizing (blockers) compounds in natural or experimentally induced precocious gut maturation models.

The role of the immune system, with a special interest in innate lymphocyte cells (ILCs), would be worthy of further investigations on their presence in both, natural and experimentally induced gut maturation models, as well as in the T-cell deficient rat model, athymic nude rats.

- The identification for classification of the CD3⁺ cells found in the neonatal athymic nude rats and their potential ILC character would be of interest due to the sensitivity of these cells to dietary cues. Afterwards, the study of the defined cell type in conventional rats would be included.
- A study on possible mediator cross-linking signals, including cytokines and chemokines and microbial products, during natural and experimentally induced maturation could help in elucidating the mechanism by which the digestive and the immune systems intercommunicate.

At last, comparison of different species, such as rodents, mice and rats, as well as pigs, related to humans could help in finding the conserved pathways in comparison to those more species-specific, and thus finding the elements more genetically hard-wired from those more subject to environmental regulation, and thus, manipulation.

• Pigs are a precocious species, physiologically similar to humans. Thus studies on the gut developmental changes in piglets could bring more understanding of the gut maturation mechanisms, getting closer to possible translational applications.

Popular summary

The rat is a mammalian species with a short gestation period and thus born very immature. It is totally dependent on the mother for many functions, such as nourishment, thermoregulation, urination and defecation, since they are naked, blind and deaf at birth. During the suckling period the digestive function of the gut is fully adapted to the milk diet. The barrier function in the gut is also immature and allows for passage of undigested milk-borne bioactive molecules to reach the blood circulation in suckling rats. The function of the pancreas, which secretes the digestive enzymes, is also low contributing to the uptake of intact bioactive compounds from the milk. This uptake of maternal molecules, such as antibodies, hormones and antimicrobial components, is essential for providing the offspring with protection against infections (passive immunity) until their own immune system has matured.

The passage of macromolecules across the immature small intestine takes place by a selective receptor-mediated uptake after antibody binding to the neonatal-Fc receptor (FcRn) highly expressed in the first proximal half of the small intestinal epithelium during the suckling period, which correlates to the passive immunity transfer (paper II). Simultaneously, cells with a high absorptive capacity conform the most of the epithelium in the second distal half of the small intestine, being distinctive by a big cellular vacuole taking almost all the cytoplasmic space (paper II).

At weaning, the transition from milk to a solid food diet, the maturation of the gut accelerates. The changes occurring include the replacement of the immature-type intestinal epithelial cells by more mature-types, characterised by a decreased expression of the antibody receptor and disappearance of the highly absorptive vacuolated cells. The barrier function is also drastically increased at 'gut closure', and the loss of the absorptive capacity to macromolecules (papers II, III and IV). The function of the pancreas at weaning is also promoted (unpublished data) and the secretion of pancreatic enzymes is stimulated as also shown in our induced gut maturation models (papers III and IV).

This natural maturation process can be also experimentally induced and we have developed two different models of induced gut maturation in suckling rats by experimental feeding a lectin from red kidney beans, phytohaemagglutinin (PHA), or proteases, protein digestive enzymes (paper I). These experiment models of precocious gut maturation mimic the changes that occur during natural development at weaning in a more defined time frame and controlled conditions.

The early effects after feeding the two provocative agents provided us with a better understanding of the triggering mechanisms leading to gut maturation. PHA showed an immediate blockage of all routes of macromolecular passage across the intestinal wall. Protease blocked the specific and unspecific vesicular transport pathways, however, increased the paracellular leakage, causing dysfunctional permeability in the distal part of the small intestine (paper IV). The results indicate that the two agents have different mechanisms for provoking gut maturation.

The immune system has also been related to the maturation of the gut in rats. Tlymphocytes have been proposed as key modulators and recently, an immune-cell related transcription factor (Blimp-1) was appointed as a key regulator of the intestinal epithelial cells maturation in mice. Thus, Blimp1 was studied in the small intestine in rats and the results showed decreased expression, timing with the maturation process (paper II). The connection of the immune system, especially Tcells, to gut maturation was also studied by means of the use of and an immunodeficient nude rat model, lacking the organ (thymus) for T-cell development. The nude rats appeared to be normally susceptible to feeding provocation and precocious gut maturation was also induced in these rats (paper III). The results suggest that maturation of the gut is independent on thymusderived T-cells, but there could be other immune cell types involved in the process.

Furthermore, the developmental changes that occur at weaning have been related "physiological inflammation" with recruitment of immune cells to the gut. It was previously shown that induced precocious maturation involves the recruitment of lymphocytes, but more studies are still needed. In fact, in support we found an increased barrier leakage early after feeding provocation with proteases, which indicates that an inflammatory process occurs (paper IV).

The present thesis high-light the postnatal development of the gut using the neonatal rat model with focus on the intestinal barrier function, the pancreatic function, and the relation to gut immune factors, especially the early possible triggering mechanisms. The parameters were studied during natural and experimentally induced precocious maturation using the feeding provocation models developed in our lab. The findings of the present thesis have contributed with new knowledge and a better understanding on what triggers intestinal barrier maturation in neonates and may help improve or develop new strategies for the treatment of gut-related complications often affecting premature infants.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Råttan är en däggdjursart med en kort dräktighetstiden och föds därför mycket omogen. Den är vid födelsen naken, blind och döv och är helt beroende av sin moder för många funktioner, såsom näringstillförsel, termoreglering, urinering och tarmtömning. Under diperioden är råttans mag-tarmsystem och matsmältning helt anpassad till modersmjölkdieten. Bland annat är tarmens barriärfunktion omogen, vilket möjliggör en passage av intakta bioaktiva mjölkmolekyler till blodcirkulationen hos diande råttor. Bukspottkörteln funktion, som utsöndrar matsmältningsenzymer, är också låg vilket underlättar upptaget av intakta bioaktiva makromolekyler från mjölken. Detta upptag av, t.ex., antikroppar, hormoner och antimikrobiella komponenter, är viktigt för att ge avkomman ett skydd mot infektioner (passiv immunitet) tills det egna immunsystemet har mognat.

Passagen av makromolekyler över den omogna tunntarmen sker genom ett selektivt receptor-medierad upptag av antikroppar efter inbindning till den neonatala Fc-receptorn (FcRn) vilken uttrycks i den första proximala halvan av tunntarmens epitel (arbete II). Celler med en hög absorptionsförmåga, som särskiljs med en stor cell-vakuolen som upptar nästan hela cellens volym, utgör samtidigt det mesta av epitelet i den andra distala halvan av tunntarmen, (arbete II). Dessa egenskaper i den omogna tarmens slemhinna korrelerar till överföringen av den passiva immuniteten under diperioden.

Vid avvänjningen, d.v.s. vid övergången från mjölk till en diet med fast föda, accelererar mognaden av tarmen. De förändringar som sker, inkluderar ett utbyte av de omogna tarmepitelcellerna med mer mogna typer, som kännetecknas av ett minskat uttryck av antikroppsreceptorn och frånvaro av de hög-absorptiva vakuoliserade cellerna. Tarmens barriärfunktion ökar också drastiskt vid "gut closure" med en förlust av den upptagskapaciteten för makromolekyler (arbete II, III och IV). Dessutom ökar bukspottkörtelns funktion vid avvänjningen (opublicerad data) och utsöndringen av pankreasenzymer stimuleras vilket visas i våra modeller med inducerad tarmmognad (arbete III och IV).

Tarmmognad kan också induceras experimentellt och vi har utvecklat två olika modeller av inducerad tarmmognad i diande råttor genom att experimentell mata, dels med ett lektin från röda kidneybönor, fytohemagglutinin (PHA), och dels med proteaser, protein-nedbrytande enzymer (arbete I). Dessa experiment modeller med brådmognad av tarmen efterliknar de förändringar som naturligt sker vid avvänjning, men under en mer kontrollerad tidsram och förhållanden.

De tidiga effekterna orsakade av behandling med de två provokativa substanserna har gett oss en bättre förståelse av de utlösande mekanismerna ledande till tarmmognad. Behandling med PHA gav en omedelbar blockering av all passage av makromolekyler över tarmväggen. Proteas-behandling blockerade både, den specifika och ospecifika vesikulära transportvägen, men skapade också ett läckage mellan cellerna, resulterande i en ökad permeabilitet i den distala delen av tunntarmen (pappers IV). Dessa resultat tyder på att de två substanserna har olika mekanismer för att provocera tarmmognad.

Tarmens immunsystem har också satts i samband med mognaden av tarmen hos unga råttor och T-lymfocyter har föreslagits som viktiga modulatorer. Nyligen har en immuncells-relaterad transkriptionsfaktor, Blimp-1, utpekats som en viktig hämmare av tarmepitelceller mognad hos möss. Därför studerades Blimp1 i tunntarmen hos råtta och resultaten visade ett minskat uttryck, vältajmat med ökad mognad (papper II). Effekter av immunsystemet, särskilt T-celler, på tarmmognaden studerades också med hjälp av en modell med nakna råttor, vilka har ett nedsatt immunförsvar eftersom de saknar tymus, organet där T-celler utvecklas. De nakna råttorna verkade vara normalt känsliga för tarmprovokation eftersom brådmognad av tarmen kunde även induceras i dessa råttor (arbete III). Resultaten tyder därför på att mognad av tarmen är oberoende av tymus T-celler, men det kan finnas andra typer immuncell inblandade i processen.

De utvecklingsmässiga förändringar som sker vid avvänjningen har också satts i samband s.k. "fysiologisk inflammation", med rekrytering av immunceller till tarmen. Det har tidigare visats att inducerad brådmognad av tarmen medför en rekryteringen av lymfocyter men fler studier behövs. Som stöd för detta fann vi ett ökat barriärläckage efter provokation med proteaser vilket tyder på att en inflammatorisk process sker (arbete IV).

Min avhandling belyser tarmens utveckling efter födseln, m.h.a en modell med nyfödda råttor, med fokus på tarmens barriärfunktion, bukspottkörtelns funktion, och i relation till tarmens immunsystem, med speciellt focus på de tidiga utlösande mekanismerna. Detta studerades, både vid naturlig och experimentellt inducerad brådmognad av tarmen, med provokationsmodeller som utvecklats i vårt labb. Resultaten som framkommit bidrar med ny kunskap och en bättre förståelse för vad som utlöser mognad av tarmbarriären hos nyfödda och kan förhoppningsvis bidra till att förbättra eller utveckla nya strategier för behandling av tarmrelaterade komplikationer som ofta uppkommer hos förtidigt-födda barn.

Resum de divulgació científica

La rata és un mamífer amb un període de gestació curt i, per tant, al néixer és nua, cega, sorda, i totalment dependent de la mare, per a funcions com ara l'alimentació, la termoregulació, orinar i defecar.

Durant el període d'alletament, la funció digestiva està totalment adaptada a la lactància. La funció de barrera a l'intestí també és immadura i permet el pas de les molècules amb activitat biològica de la llet sense digerir per arribar intactes a la circulació sanguínia de les rates lactants. La funció del pàncrees, que segrega els enzims digestius, és també baixa, fet que contribueix a l'absorció dels compostos bioactius de la llet sense digerir. Aquesta transferència de molècules de la llet materna, com ara anticossos, hormones i components antimicrobians, és essencial per a poder proporcionar a la descendència protecció contra infeccions (immunitat natural passiva) fins que el seu propi sistema immunitari hagi madurat.

El pas de les macromolècules a través de l'intestí prim immadur succeeix per transport selectiu dels anticossos a través del receptor Fc-neonatal (FcRn), altament expressat en l'epiteli de la primera meitat de l'intestí prim durant el període d'alletament, que es correlaciona amb la transferència d'immunitat natural passiva (paper II). Alhora, cèl·lules amb una alta capacitat d'absorció conformen la major part de l'epiteli intestinal de la segona meitat de l'intestí prim, distingibles per tenir una gran vacuola cel·lular ocupant gairebé tot l'espai citoplasmàtic dels enteròcits (paper II).

Durant el deslletament, el temps de transició entre la lactància estricta i la introducció progressiva d'altres aliments a la dieta, l'intestí madura ràpidament. Els canvis que es produeixen inclouen la substitució de les cèl·lules epitelials de l'intestí, que es caracteritzen per una expressió reduïda del receptor d'anticossos i la desaparició de les cèl·lules vacuolades amb gran capacitat d'absorció. La funció de barrera també s'incrementa dràsticament amb la pèrdua de la capacitat d'absorció de macromolècules (papers II, III i IV), o tancament de l'intestí. La funció digestiva del pàncrees també s'incrementa durant el deslletament (dades no publicades) juntament amb l'estimulació de la secreció d'enzims pancreàtics, com succeeix en els nostres models de maduració intestinal induïda (papers III i IV).

Aquest procés de maduració natural de l'intestí prim durant el deslletament pot ser induït experimentalment. En el grup, s'han desenvolupat dos models diferents de maduració intestinal induïda en rates lactants per mitjà de l'alimentació forçada d'una lectina extreta de mongetes vermelles, fitohemaglutinina (PHA), o proteases, enzims que digereixen proteïnes (paper I). Aquests models experimentals de la maduració intestinal precoç imiten els canvis que succeeixen durant el desenvolupament natural del deslletament en un marc de temps més definit i unes condicions més controlades.

Els efectes causats just després d'administrar els agents provocatius per tub estomacal han proporcionat una millor comprensió dels mecanismes d'acció de cada un dels tractaments. La PHA va resultar en un bloqueig immediat de totes les rutes de transport a través de la paret intestinal. La proteasa va bloquejar les vies de transport vesicular, tant l'específic com l'inespecífic, però va augmentar el pas paracel·lular de la barrera intestinal causant una alteració en la permeabilitat de l'epiteli a la part distal de l'intestí prim (paper IV). Aquest resultats indiquen que els tractaments actuen a través de diferents mecanismes per provocar la maduració intestinal.

El sistema immunitari també s'ha relacionat amb la maduració de l'intestí en rates, amb els limfòcits T proposats com a mediadors i el factor de transcripció de les cèl·lules immunes (Blimp-1) designat com un regulador clau de la maduració de les cèl·lules epitelials de l'intestí en ratolins. L'expressió de Blimp1 a l'intestí prim es va estudiar també en rates i els resultats van mostrar una disminució de l'expressió sincronitzada amb el procés de maduració (paper II).

La connexió del sistema immune, especialment les cèl·lules T, es va estudiar també en un model de rata immunodeficient sense tim, l'òrgan on es desenvolupen els limfòcits T. Les rates atímiques van resultar ser susceptibles a la provocació intestinal amb PHA i proteasa, i es va poder induir la maduració precoç de l'intestí (paper III). Els resultats suggereixen que la maduració de l'intestí és independent de cèl·lules T derivades del tim, però altres cèl·lules del sistema immunitari podrien estar implicades en el procés. D'altra banda, els canvis que es produeixen en l'intestí durant el deslletament s'han relacionat amb un procés de "inflamació fisiològica". A més, s'ha demostrat prèviament que la maduració precoç induïda per PHA implica el reclutament de limfòcits i el fet que les proteases causin una alteració de la permeabilitat paracel·lular indica també un procés inflamatori (paper IV).

Així doncs, durant aquest projecte s'ha investigat el desenvolupament de l'intestí en el model de rata després del naixement amb especial atenció en la funció de barrera de l'intestí, la funció pancreàtica, i la relació amb factors immunològics, així com l'aclariment dels possibles mecanismes d'activació. Els resultats obtinguts contribueixen a una millor comprensió dels desencadenants de la maduració de la barrera intestinal en nadons i podrien ajudar a millorar les estratègies per a la prevenció i el tractament de les complicacions relacionades amb els intestins que sovint afecten els infants prematurs.

Acknowledgements

The completion of my Ph.D. has been a long journey with plenty of 'random', 'lagom' and 'karma' (ask the allergiologist). Many things might have changed, but it is definitely clear that I could not have succeeded without the invaluable support of a few, without who I may not have gotten here today, at least not in one piece.

I'd like to give special thanks to Prof. Björn Weström, my main supervisor, who helped me push through all the steps. Thanks for your availability, encouragement, patience, and motivation. Never judged nor pushed when I was at my best or at my worst. Thank you, for being supervisor, mentor, advisor, guide, teacher, team-mate and a good person to look up to. Life starts after coffee!

I'd also like to give a heartfelt, special thanks to Prof. Stefan Pierzynowski, my cosupervisor, you were always there when you were needed, with inspiring out-ofthe-box ideas, the 'Pierzynowski effect'. Also thanks for giving me the opportunity to be involved in other projects, to meet others, and for always greeting me with a smile. *Alea jacta est*.

And to my c@-supervisor, Dr. Olena Prykhodko, you were there when I laughed and cried, when I was lost, confused or doubted, when I was overwhelmed with joy or sadness, especially in the beginning and the toughest times. When I was messy, you made sense. When I became too serious, you made me smile, not only as a supervisor, but also as a friend. Thanks for believing in me! – Shall we try? – Why not!

It is a great pleasure and I feel privileged to be part of the Gut Biology group! ©

Physiologists can be talkative, hence I'd like to thank my current and former office mates and co-workers, project students, office neighbours, etc. for the support and the company, and the interesting discussions. To Camilla and Agnieszka for the animal care and help and laughs and coffee. Mehnraz, your realistic point of you was always valuable. Liudmyla, for the time in the lab and the night shifts and the caffeine and all, po3yMieIII. Olexandr! Thanks because, and also for PHA! Shahram, for your good mood. Kataryna, so chill, keeping your cool! Thanks to all the students that have done their projects within the group: Elisabeth, Jing, Jian, Fabian, Joel, Anne-Laure, Lisa, Carolina, Hiu, Theresa and Catherine! You all had a part in this! Thanks! Those we have shared the lab, and not only, Lidia, Aitor, Vasiliki, Martina and Tini, for sharing the bench and experiences.

To all people in the building, unit and department, from long ago and not so long, sometimes just a smile in the corridor is enough [©]. Börje, Stina, Bodil, Xiaoli, always ahead for us to follow! It's been a blast!, John, Wendy, Ewa, Patrick, Fredrik, Max and Albin, Thanks for the tools!, Helena, Athena, Anders, Elisa, etc.

To Inger for teaching me how to use the cryostat, thanks for sharing your wisdom with me. Thanks to Marianne, Kataryna and Ylwa! For your kindness, help and understanding! You know all the answers! And for all the bureaucracy...infinite thanks for handling the papers and packages. Lars and Anders, thanks for fixing what was broken!

To the nice people in the Center for food and health Science for letting me in and trust me to use their machines, especially Nittaya and Thao, to help me learn the new techniques! Ulrikke, thanks for your advise with IHC. Elin, thanks for the analyses! Also big thanks to Janine, for reading and correcting the thesis.

A very special thanks to the Immunology and Nutrition Physiology teaching teams: Bjorn, Lars, Helena, Olena, Sharham, Sandra, Merhnaz, Pablo, Agnieszka, Xin, Stefan, Caroline, Liudmyla. Thanks for giving me the opportunity to teach and learn. I enjoyed being part of it!!

To the Royal Physiographic Society in Lund for funding this projects, more than once. And the ESPGHAN, for the Young investigator awards travel grants that made it possible to attend and present this project at the conferences. To the PiGutNet project for the sponsoring opportunity to participate in the summer school and the workshop, I learned lots! It was great meeting you all!

To my friends, the old and the new, in Lund or spread all over, for being there, for the good and the bad, for sharing and caring, for sticking around, out and about.

Als amics de sempre des de 'la vila del pingüí' fins aquí a 'Amert' i la Celleeeeeera!, i als que us veig a BCN entre birres i places i plegatins! Sou genials! Tenir-vos d'amics es un privilegi! Una abraçada!

Als de casa, la Iaia Lola, la Tia Flora, la mama Rosa (la paciència, es la mare de la ciència), en papa Joan, la teta Ester, en tet David, l'Oriol, l'Ona, en Pau i en Jordi. Perquè quan hi som tots, som molts, i quan falta algú sobren gots i forquilles. Moltes gràcies per el vostre suport! Mai tant lluny, però sempre presents allà on vagi.

Tack! Thanks! Gràcies! Дякую! Dzięki! Obrigad@! Mérci! Danke! Tak! تشكر! ! Gracias! спасибо! Mulţumesc! شكر! Kiitos! Grazie! 谢谢! Eskerri kasko!

© Ester, 20th of February 2017

References

- 1 Walthall, K., Cappon, G. D., Hurtt, M. E. & Zoetis, T. Postnatal development of the gastrointestinal system: a species comparison. *Birth defects research* **74**, 132-156 (2005).
- 2 Cheng, H. & Leblond, C. P. Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine V. Unitarian theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. *American Journal of Anatomy* 141, 537-561, doi:10.1002/aja.1001410407 (1974).
- 3 Dehmer, J. J. *et al.* Expansion of Intestinal Epithelial Stem Cells during Murine Development. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e27070, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027070 (2011).
- 4 Potten, C. S. Extreme sensitivity of some intestinal crypt cells to X and [gamma] irradiation. *Nature* **269**, 518-521 (1977).
- 5 Brittan, M. & Wright, N. A. Stem cell in gastrointestinal structure and neoplastic development. *Gut* **53**, 899-910 (2004).
- 6 Kelly, D., Begbie, R. & King, T. P. in Occasional Publication No. 15- British Society of Animal Production (ed P.E.V. Williams and T.L. Lawrence M.A. Varley) (1992).
- 7 Kumagai, N. *et al.* Origin of the apical transcytic membrane system in jejunal absorptive cells of neonates. *Medical molecular morphology* 44, 71-78, doi:10.1007/s00795-010-0506-3 (2011).
- 8 Jakoi, E. R., Cambier, J. & Saslow, S. Transepithelial transport of maternal antibody: purification of IgG receptor from newborn rat intestine. *The Journal of Immunology* **135**, 3360-3364 (1985).
- 9 Cummins, A. G., Steele, T. W., Labrooy, J. T. & Shearman, D. J. C. Maturation of the rat small intestine at weaning: changes in epithelial cell kinetics, bacterial flora, and mucosal immune activity. *Gut* 29, 1672-1679 (1988).
- 10 Wang, L., Li, J., Li, Q., Zhang, J. & Duan, X.-L. Morphological changes of cell proliferation and apoptosis in rat jejunal mucosa at different ages. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 9, 2060-2064, doi:10.3748/wjg.v9.i9.2060 (2003).
- 11 Bry, L. *et al.* Paneth cell differentiation in the developing intestine of normal and transgenic mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **91**, 10335-10339 (1994).
- 12 Santaolalla, R. & Abreu, M. T. Innate immunity in the small intestine. *Current opinion in gastroenterology* **28**, 124-129, doi:10.1097/MOG.0b013e3283506559 (2012).
- 13 Morisset, J. Hormonal control of pancreatic growth during fetal, neonatal and adult life. *Advances in medical sciences* **53**, 99-118, doi:10.2478/v10039-008-0029-5 (2008).
- 14 Mubiru, J. N. & Xu, R. J. Comparison of growth and development of the exocrine pancreas in pigs and rats during the immediate postnatal period. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology* 120, 699-703 (1998).
- 15 Kisfalvi, K., Hajnal, F., Varga, G. & Papp, M. Influence of gastrointestinal (GI) hormones on suckling, gastric emptying and pancreatic trypsin content in the developing rat. *J Dev Physiol* 19, 149-155 (1993).

- 16 Harada, E. & Syuto, B. Precocious alteration of digestive enzyme activities in small intestine and pancreas by chronic oral administration of protease inhibitor in suckling rats. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. A, Comparative physiology* **100**, 467-472 (1991).
- 17 Kinouchi, T., Koizumi, K., Kuwata, T. & Yajima, T. Crucial role of milk-borne insulin in the development of pancreatic amylase at the onset of weaning in rats. *The American journal of physiology* 275, R1958-1967 (1998).
- 18 Rakhimov, K. R., Karimov, O. R., Kurbanov, A. S. & Kuchkarova, L. S. Rearrangement of Spectrum of Digestive Proteases in Postnatal Ontogenesis of Rats. *J Evol Bioch Phys*+ 28, 184-188 (2002).
- 19 Stolovich-Rain, M. *et al.* Weaning triggers a maturation step of pancreatic beta cells. *Developmental cell* **32**, 535-545, doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2015.01.002 (2015).
- 20 Murphy, K. & Weaver, C. Janeway's Immunobiology, 9th edition. (Garland Science, 2016).
- 21 Holladay, S. D. & Smialowicz, R. J. Development of the murine and human immune system: differential effects of immunotoxicants depend on time of exposure. *Environmental health perspectives* **108 Suppl 3**, 463-473 (2000).
- 22 Holsapple, M. P., West, L. J. & Landreth, K. S. Species comparison of anatomical and functional immune system development. *Birth Def Res* **68**, 321-334 (2003).
- 23 Kelly, D. & Coutts, A. G. Early nutrition and the development of immune function in the neonate. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **59**, 177-185 (2000).
- Hanson, L. *et al.* The immunological role of breast feeding. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 12 Suppl 14, 15-19 (2001).
- 25 Cabinian, A. *et al.* Transfer of Maternal Immune Cells by Breastfeeding: Maternal Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Present in Breast Milk Localize in the Peyer's Patches of the Nursed Infant. *PLoS* One 11, e0156762, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156762 (2016).
- 26 Sheldrake, R. F. & Husband, A. J. Intestinal uptake of intact maternal lymphocytes by neonatal rats and lambs. *Research in veterinary science* **39**, 10-15 (1985).
- 27 Xu, R. J., Sangild, P. T., Zhang, Y. Q. & Zhang, S. H. in *Biology of the intestine in growing animals* Vol. 1 (ed Gregory P.S. Zabielski R, Weström B) 169-192 (Elsevier Science B. V., 2002).
- 28 Heyman, M. Symposium on 'dietary influences on mucosal immunity'. How dietary antigens access the mucosal immune system. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **60**, 419-426 (2001).
- 29 Cummins, A. G. & Thompson, F. M. Effect of breast milk and weaning on epithelial growth of the small intestine in humans. *Gut* **51**, 748-754 (2002).
- 30 McCracken, V. J. & Lorenz, R. G. The gastrointestinal ecosystem: a precarious alliance among epithelium, immunity and microbiota. *Cellular Microbiology* 3, 1-11, doi:10.1046/j.1462-5822.2001.00090.x (2001).
- 31 D'Cruz, L. M. & Klein, L. Development and function of agonist-induced CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the absence of interleukin 2 signaling. *Nature immunology* 6, 1152-1159, doi:10.1038/ni1264 (2005).
- 32 Fontenot, J. D., Rasmussen, J. P., Gavin, M. A. & Rudensky, A. Y. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nature immunology* 6, 1142-1151, doi:10.1038/ni1263 (2005).
- 33 Pie, S. *et al.* Weaning Is Associated with an Upregulation of Expression of Inflammatory Cytokines in the Intestine of Piglets. *The Journal of nutrition* **134**, 641-647 (2004).

- 34 Schaeffer, C. *et al.* Cytokine gene expression during postnatal small intestinal development: regulation by glucocorticoids. *Gut* **47**, 192-199 (2000).
- 35 Mengheri, E., Ciapponi, L., Vignolini, F. & Nobili, F. Cytokine gene expression in intestine of rat during the postnatal developmental period: increased IL-1 expression at weaning. *Life sciences* 59, 1227-1236 (1996).
- 36 Perez-Cano, F. J. *et al.* Developmental changes in intraepithelial T lymphocytes and NK cells in the small Intestine of neonatal rats. *Pediatric research* **58**, 885–891 (2005).
- 37 Steege, J. C., Buurman, W. A. & Forget, P. P. The neonatal development of intraepithelial and lamina propria lymphocytes in the murine small intestine. *Developmental immunology* 5, 121-128 (1997).
- 38 Thompson, F. M., Mayrhofer, G. & Cummins, A. G. Dependence of epithelial growth of the small intestine on T-cell activation during weaning in the rat. *Gastroenterology* **111**, 37-44 (1996).
- 39 Keita, å. v. & Söderholm, J. D. The intestinal barrier and its regulation by neuroimmune factors. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility* 22, 718-733, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01498.x (2010).
- 40 Barbara, G. *et al.* The Intestinal Microenvironment and Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders. *Gastroenterology*, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.028 (2016).
- 41 Luissint, A. C., Parkos, C. A. & Nusrat, A. Inflammation and the Intestinal Barrier: Leukocyte-Epithelial Cell Interactions, Cell Junction Remodeling, and Mucosal Repair. *Gastroenterology* 151, 616-632, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2016.07.008 (2016).
- 42 Halpern, M. D. & Denning, P. W. The role of intestinal epithelial barrier function in the development of NEC. *Tissue Barriers* **3**, e1000707, doi:10.1080/21688370.2014.1000707 (2015).
- 43 Siccardi, D., Turner, J. R. & Mrsny, R. J. Regulation of intestinal epithelial function: a link between opportunities for macromolecular drug delivery and inflammatory bowel disease. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 57, 219-235, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2004.08.005 (2005).
- 44 Bischoff, S. C. *et al.* Intestinal permeability a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterology* **14**, 189, doi:10.1186/s12876-014-0189-7 (2014).
- 45 Pacha, J. Development of intestinal transport function in mammals. *Physiological reviews* **80**, 1633-1667 (2000).
- 46 Abrahamson, D. R. & Rodewald, R. Evidence for the sorting of endocytic vesicle contents during the receptor-mediated transport of IgG across the newborn rat intestine. *The Journal of cell biology* **91**, 270-280 (1981).
- 47 Rodewald, R. pH-dependent binding of immunoglobulins to intestinal cells of the neonatal rat. *The Journal of cell biology* **71**, 666-669 (1976).
- 48 Jones, E. A. & Waldmann, T. A. The mechanism of intestinal uptake and transcellular transport of IgG in the neonatal rat. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **51**, 2916-2927 (1972).
- 49 Telemo, E., Westrom, B. R. & Karlsson, B. W. Proteolytic activity as a regulator of the transmission of orally fed proteins from the gut to the blood serum in the suckling rat. *Biol Neonate* 41, 85-93 (1982).
- 50 Menard, S., Cerf-Bensussan, N. & Heyman, M. Multiple facets of intestinal permeability and epithelial handling of dietary antigens. *Mucosal immunology* 3, 247-259, doi:10.1038/mi.2010.5 (2010).

- 51 Henning, S. J. Postnatal development: coordination of feeding, digestion, and metabolism. *The American journal of physiology* **241**, G199-214 (1981).
- 52 Telemo, E., Westrom, B. R., Ekstrom, G. & Karlsson, B. W. Intestinal macromolecular transmission in the young rat: influence of protease inhibitors during development. *Biol Neonate* **52**, 141-148 (1987).
- 53 Koldovsky, O. Search for role of milk-borne biologically-active peptides for the suckling. *J. Nutr.* **119**, 1543-1551 (1989).
- 54 Grosvenor, C. E., Picciano, M. F. & Baumrucker, C. R. Hormones and growth factors in milk. *Endocrine reviews* 14, 710-728 (1993).
- 55 Wagner, C. L., Taylor, S. N. & Johnson, D. Host factors in amniotic fluid and breast milk that contribute to gut maturation. *Clinical reviews in allergy & immunology* **34**, 191-204 (2008).
- 56 Walker, W. A. & Iyengar, R. S. Breast milk, microbiota, and intestinal immune homeostasis. *Pediatric research* **77**, 220-228, doi:10.1038/pr.2014.160 (2015).
- 57 Stadnyk, A. W. Cytokine production by epithelial cells. *Faseb J* **8**, 1041-1047 (1994).
- 58 Johansson, M. E. V., Sjovall, H. & Hansson, G. C. The gastrointestinal mucus system in health and disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 10, 352-361, doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2013.35 (2013).
- 59 de Santa Barbara, P., van den Brink, G. R. & Roberts, D. J. Development and differentiation of the intestinal epithelium. *CMLS, Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 60, 1322-1332, doi:10.1007/s00018-003-2289-3 (2003).
- 60 Salzman, N. H. *et al.* Enteric defensins are essential regulators of intestinal microbial ecology. *Nature immunology* **11**, 76-82, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ni.1825 (2010).
- 61 Ayabe, T. *et al.* Secretion of microbicidal alpha-defensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. *Nature immunology* **1**, 113-118, doi:10.1038/77783 (2000).
- 62 Baintner, K. *Biology of the intestine in growing animals*. 1 edn, Vol. 1 (Elsevier Science B. V., 2002).
- 63 Baba, R., Fujita, M., Tein, C. E. & Miyoshi, M. Endocytosis by absorptive cells in the middle segment of the suckling rat small intestine. *Anatomical science international* 77, 117-123, doi:10.1046/j.0022-7722.2002.00017.x (2002).
- 64 Simister, N. E. & Mostov, K. E. An Fc receptor structurally related to MHC class I antigens. *Nature* **337**, 184-187, doi:10.1038/337184a0 (1989).
- 65 Chaudhury, C. *et al.* The major histocompatibility complex-related Fc receptor for IgG (FcRn) binds albumin and prolongs its lifespan. *J Exp Med* **197**, 315-322 (2003).
- 66 Anderson, C. L. *et al.* Perspective-- FcRn transports albumin: relevance to immunology and medicine. *Trends in immunology* **27**, 343-348, doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.05.004 (2006).
- 67 Rodewald, R. & Kraehenbuhl, J. P. Receptor-mediated transport of IgG. *The Journal of cell biology* **99**, 159s-164s (1984).
- 68 Rath, T. *et al.* The Immunologic Functions of the Neonatal Fc Receptor for IgG. *Journal of Clinical Immunology* **33**, 9-17, doi:10.1007/s10875-012-9768-y (2012).
- 69 Akilesh, S., Christianson, G. J., Roopenian, D. C. & Shaw, A. S. Neonatal FcR expression in bone marrow-derived cells functions to protect serum IgG from catabolism. *J Immunol* 179, 4580-4588 (2007).
- 70 Qureshi, S. T. *et al.* Endotoxin-tolerant Mice Have Mutations in Toll-like Receptor 4 (Tlr4). *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 189, 615-625, doi:10.1084/jem.189.4.615 (1999).

- 71 Abreu, M. T. Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. *Nat Rev Immunol* **10**, 131-144, doi:http://www.nature.com/nri/journal/v10/n2/suppinfo/nri2707_S1.html (2010).
- 72 Vaure, C. & Liu, Y. A Comparative Review of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression and Functionality in Different Animal Species. *Frontiers in Immunology* 5, 316, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00316 (2014).
- Kong, W. *et al.* Luminal trypsin may regulate enterocytes through proteinase-activated receptor
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 8884–8889 (1997).
- 74 Zhao, P., Metcalf, M. & Bunnett, N. W. Biased Signaling of Protease-activated Receptors. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* **5**, doi:10.3389/fendo.2014.00067 (2014).
- 75 Lohman, R. J. *et al.* An antagonist of human protease activated receptor-2 attenuates PAR2 signaling, macrophage activation, mast cell degranulation, and collagen-induced arthritis in rats. *Faseb j* 26, 2877-2887, doi:10.1096/fj.11-201004 (2012).
- 76 Lohman, R. J. *et al.* Antagonism of protease-activated receptor 2 protects against experimental colitis. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics* **340**, 256-265, doi:10.1124/jpet.111.187062 (2012).
- Yoshida, M. *et al.* Human neonatal Fc receptor mediates transport of IgG into luminal secretions for delivery of antigens to mucosal dendritic cells. *Immunity* 20, 769-783, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.007 (2004).
- 78 Yoshida, M. *et al.* Neonatal Fc receptor for IgG regulates mucosal immune responses to luminal bacteria. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **116**, 2142-2151, doi:10.1172/JCI27821 (2006).
- 79 Magrone, T. & Jirillo, E. The interplay between the gut immune system and microbiota in health and disease: nutraceutical intervention for restoring intestinal homeostasis. *Curr Pharm Des* 19, 1329-1342 (2013).
- 80 Torow, N. *et al.* Active suppression of intestinal cd4(+)tcralphabeta(+) t-lymphocyte maturation during the postnatal period. *Nature communications* 6, 7725, doi:10.1038/ncomms8725 (2015).
- 81 Vojdani, A. For the assessment of intestinal permeability, size matters. *Alternative therapies in health and medicine* **19**, 12-24 (2013).
- 82 Collado, M. C., Rautava, S., Aakko, J., Isolauri, E. & Salminen, S. Human gut colonisation may be initiated in utero by distinct microbial communities in the placenta and amniotic fluid. *Scientific reports* 6, 23129, doi:10.1038/srep23129 (2016).
- 83 Neu, J. & Rushing, J. Cesarean versus Vaginal Delivery: Long term infant outcomes and the Hygiene Hypothesis. *Clinics in perinatology* 38, 321-331, doi:10.1016/j.clp.2011.03.008 (2011).
- 84 Dominguez-Bello, M. G. *et al.* Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107, 11971-11975, doi:10.1073/pnas.1002601107 (2010).
- 85 Jain, N. & Walker, W. A. Diet and host-microbial crosstalk in postnatal intestinal immune homeostasis. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 12, 14-25, doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2014.153 (2015).
- 86 Sodhi, C. P. *et al.* Intestinal epithelial Toll-like receptor 4 regulates goblet cell development and is required for necrotizing enterocolitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* **143**, 708-718, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.053 (2012).

- 87 Egan, C. E. *et al.* Toll-like receptor 4-mediated lymphocyte influx induces neonatal necrotizing enterocolitis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **126**, 495-508, doi:10.1172/jci83356 (2016).
- 88 Mantani, Y. *et al.* Immunohistochemical detection of toll-like receptor-2, -4 and -9 in exocrine glands associated with rat alimentary tract. *J Vet Med Sci.* **74**, 1429-1438 (2012).
- 89 Masjedi, M., Tivey, D. R., Thompson, F. M. & Cummins, A. G. Activation of the gutassociated lymphoid tissue with expression of interleukin-2 receptors that peaks during weaning in the rat. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* **29**, 556-562 (1999).
- 90 Cummins, A. G., Labrooy, J. T. & Shearman, D. J. The effect of cyclosporin A in delaying maturation of the small intestine during weaning in the rat. *Clinical and experimental immunology* 75, 451-456 (1989).
- 91 MacDonald, T. T. & Spencer, J. O. Evidence thet activated mucosal T cells play a role in the pathogenesis of enteropathy in human small intestine. *J Exp Med* **167**, 1341-1349 (1988).
- 92 Jenkins, S. L. *et al.* Role of passive and adaptive immunity in influencing enterocyte-specific gene expression. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 285, G714-725, doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00130.2003 (2003).
- 93 Harper, J., Mould, A., Andrews, R. M., Bikoff, E. K. & Robertson, E. J. The transcriptional repressor Blimp1/Prdm1 regulates postnatal reprogramming of intestinal enterocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**, 10585-10590, doi:10.1073/pnas.1105852108 (2011).
- 94 Muncan, V. *et al.* Blimp1 regulates the transition of neonatal to adult intestinal epithelium. *Nature communications* **2**, 452, doi:10.1038/ncomms1463 (2011).
- 95 Morgan, M. A. *et al.* Blimp-1/Prdm1 alternative promoter usage during mouse development and plasma cell differentiation. *Molecular and cellular biology* 29, 5813-5827, doi:10.1128/mcb.00670-09 (2009).
- 96 Baintner, K. Transmission of antibodies from mother to young: Evolutionary strategies in a proteolytic environment. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology* **117**, 153-161 (2007).
- 97 Puiman, P. & Stoll, B. Animal models to study neonatal nutrition in humans. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* **11**, 601-606, doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e32830b5b15 (2008).
- 98 Perez-Cano, F. J., Franch, A., Castellote, C. & Castell, M. The suckling rat as a model for immunonutrition studies in early life. *Clinical & developmental immunology* 2012, 537310, doi:10.1155/2012/537310 (2012).
- 99 Lee, P. C. & Lebenthal, E. Early weanling and precocious development of small intestine in rats: genetic, dietary or hormonal control. *Pediatric research* **17**, 645-650 (1983).
- 100 Martin, M. G., Wu, S. V. & Walsh, J. H. Hormonal control of intestinal Fc receptor gene expression and immunoglobulin transport in suckling rats. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 91, 2844-2849, doi:10.1172/jci116528 (1993).
- 101 Dufour, C. *et al.* Spermine and spermidine induce intestinal maturation in the rat. *Gastroenterology* **95**, 112-116 (1988).
- 102 Linderoth, A. *et al.* Induced growth and maturation of the gastrointestinal tract after Phaseolus vulgaris lectin exposure in suckling rats. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* **41**, 195-203 (2005).
- 103 Linderoth, A., Prykhod'ko, O., Pierzynowski, S. G. & Weström, B. R. Enterally but not parenterally administered Phaseolus vulgaris lectin induces growth and precocious maturation of the gut in suckling rats. *Biol Neonate* 89, 60-68 (2006).
- 104 Pusztai, A. & Watt, W. B. Isolectins of Phaseolus vulgaris. A comprehensive study of fractionation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 365, 57-71 (1974).

- 105 Pierzynowski, S. G., Westrom, B. R., Svendsen, J. & Karlsson, B. W. Development of exocrine pancreas function in chronically cannulated pigs during 1-13 weeks of postnatal life. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 10, 206-212 (1990).
- 106 Fritz, H., Hartwich, G. & Werle, E. On protease inhibitors. I. Isolation and characterization of trypsin inhibitors from dog pancreas tissue and pancreas scretion. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 345, 150-167 (1966).
- 107 Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. & Randall, R. J. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **193**, 265-275 (1951).
- 108 Aarsen, P. N. Rapid spectrophotometric micromethod for determination of histaminase activity. *Nature* **204**, 1195 (1964).
- 109 Mancini, G., Carbonara, A. O. & Heremans, J. F. Immunochemical quantitation of antigens by single radial immunodiffusion. *Immunochemistry* 2, 235-IN236, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0019-2791(65)90004-2 (1965).
- 110 Laurell, C. B. Electroimmuno assay. *Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation* **124**, 21-37 (1972).
- 111 Thymann, T. *et al.* Formula-feeding reduces lactose digestive capacity in neonatal pigs. *British Journal of Nutrition* **95**, 1075-1081, doi:10.1079/BJN20061743 (2006).
- 112 Luk, G. D., Bayless, T. M. & Baylin, S. B. Diamine oxidase (histaminase). A circulating marker for rat intestinal mucosal maturation and integrity. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 66, 66-70, doi:10.1172/jci109836 (1980).
- 113 Kazmierczak, S. C. & Robertson, A. F. Evaluation of a spectrophotometric method for measurement of activity of diamine oxidase in newborn infants. *Annals of clinical and laboratory science* **22**, 155-161 (1992).
- 114 Lozinska, L. *et al.* Monitoring changes in plasma levels of pancreatic and intestinal enzymes in a model of pancreatic exocrine insufficiency induced by pancreatic duct-ligation in young pigs. *Advances in medical sciences* **60**, 112-117, doi:10.1016/j.advms.2015.01.003 (2015).
- 115 Corpeleijn, W. E., van Elburg, R. M., Kema, I. P. & van Goudoever, J. B. in *Permeability Barrier: Methods and Protocols* Vol. 763 *Methods in Molecular Biology* (ed Kursad Turksen) Ch. 6, (Humana Press, 2011).
- 116 van Elburg, R. M. *et al.* Repeatability of the Sugar-Absorption Test, Using Lactulose and Mannitol, for Measuring Intestinal Permeability for Sugars. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 20, 184-188 (1995).
- 117 de Morais, M. B. & Lifschitz, C. H. Intestinal permeability to lactulose and mannitol in growing rats with iron-deficiency anemia. *Biological Trace Element Research* 99, 233-240, doi:10.1385/bter:99:1-3:233 (2004).
- 118 Lifschitz, C. H. & Shulman, R. J. Intestinal Permeability Tests: Are They Clinically Useful? *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* **10**, 283-286 (1990).
- 119 Linderoth, A. *et al.* Binding and the effect of the red kidney bean lectin, phytohaemagglutinin, in the gastrointestinal tract of suckling rats. *The British journal of nutrition* **95**, 105-115 (2006).
- 120 Prykhodko, O., Fedkiv, O., Linderoth, A., Pierzynowski, S. G. & Weström, B. R. Precocious gut maturation and immune cell expansion by single dose feeding the lectin phytohaemagglutinin to suckling rats. *Bri J Nutr* **101**, 735-742, doi:10.1017/S0007114508035940 (2008).
- 121 Herzig, K. H. *et al.* Red kidney bean lectin is a potent cholecystokinin releasing stimulus in the rat inducing pancreatic growth. *Gut* **41**, 333-338. (1997).

- 122 Grant, G. *et al.* Secretion of pancreatic digestive enzymes induced in rats by first-time oral exposure to kidney bean E2L2 lectin is mediated only in part by cholecystokinin (CCK). *Pancreas* **19**, 382-389 (1999).
- 123 Kordas, K. *et al.* Diverse effects of phytohaemagglutinin on gastrointestinal secretions in rats. J Physiol Paris 94, 31-36 (2000).
- 124 Volynets, V. *et al.* Assessment of the Intestinal Barrier with Five Different Permeability Tests in Healthy C57BL/6J and BALB/cJ Mice. *Dig Dis Sci* 61, 737-746, doi:10.1007/s10620-015-3935-y (2016).
- 125 Martin, M. G., Wu, S. V. & Walsh, J. H. Ontogenetic development and distribution of antibody transport and Fc receptor mRNA expression in rat intestine. *Dig Dis Sci* **42**, 1062-1069 (1997).
- 126 Jacob, C. *et al.* Mast Cell Tryptase Controls Paracellular Permeability of the Intestine. Role of protease-activated receptor 2 and β-arrestins. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280, 31936-31948 (2005).
- 127 Groschwitz, K. R., Wu, D., Osterfeld, H., Ahrens, R. & Hogan, S. P. Chymase-mediated intestinal epithelial permeability is regulated by a protease-activating receptor/matrix metalloproteinase-2-dependent mechanism. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **304**, 479-489, doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00186.2012.-Mast (2013).
- 128 Ronaghan, N. J. *et al.* The serine protease-mediated increase in intestinal epithelial barrier function is dependent on occludin and requires an intact tight junction. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **311**, G466-479, doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00441.2015 (2016).
- 129 Vanuytsel, T., Vermeire, S. & Cleynen, I. The role of Haptoglobin and its related protein, Zonulin, in inflammatory bowel disease. *Tissue Barriers* 1, e27321, doi:10.4161/tisb.27321 (2013).
- 130 Fiocchi, C. What is "physiological" intestinal inflammation and how does it differ from "pathological" inflammation? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 14, S77-S78, doi:10.1002/ibd.20618 (2008).
- 131 Turner, C. A., Jr., Mack, D. H. & Davis, M. M. Blimp-1, a novel zinc finger-containing protein that can drive the maturation of B lymphocytes into immunoglobulin-secreting cells. *Cell* 77, 297-306 (1994).
- 132 Martins, G. A. *et al.* Transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 regulates T cell homeostasis and function. *Nature immunology* **7**, 457-465, doi:10.1038/ni1320 (2006).
- 133 Martins, G. A., Cimmino, L., Liao, J., Magnusdottir, E. & Calame, K. Blimp-1 directly represses Il2 and the Il2 activator Fos, attenuating T cell proliferation and survival. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 205, 1959-1965, doi:10.1084/jem.20080526 (2008).
- 134 Salehi, S. *et al.* B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 contributes to intestinal mucosa homeostasis by limiting the number of IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* 189, 5682-5693, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201966 (2012).
- 135 Mould, A. W., Morgan, M. A., Nelson, A. C., Bikoff, E. K. & Robertson, E. J. Blimp1/Prdm1 Functions in Opposition to Irf1 to Maintain Neonatal Tolerance during Postnatal Intestinal Maturation. *PLoS genetics* 11, e1005375, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1005375 (2015).
- 136 Johnston, R. J. *et al.* Bcl6 and Blimp-1 Are Reciprocal and Antagonistic Regulators of T Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation. *Science* **325**, 1006-1010, doi:10.1126/science.1175870 (2009).
- 137 Crotty, S., Johnston, R. J. & Schoenberger, S. P. Effectors and memories: Bcl-6 and Blimp-1 in T and B lymphocyte differentiation. *Nature immunology* 11, 114-120 (2010).

- 138 Helgeland, L., Brandtzaeg, P., Rolstad, B. & Vaage, J. T. Sequential development of intraepithelial γδ and $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes expressing CD8 $\alpha\beta$ in neonatal rat intestine: requirement for the thymus. *Immunol* **92**, 447-456 (1997).
- 139 Prykhodko, O., Pierzynowski, S. G. & Westrom, B. R. Immune suppression by cyclosporin A inhibits phytohemagglutinin-induced precocious gut maturation in suckling rats. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 50, 473-480 (2010).
- 140 Hale, M. L., Hanna, E. E. & Hansen, C. T. Nude mice from homozygous nude parents show smaller pfc responses to sheep erythrocytes than nude mice from heterozygous mothers. *Nature* 260, 44-45, doi:10.1038/260044a0 (1976).
- 141 Cummins, A. G., Thompson, F. M. & Mayrhofer, G. Mucosal immune activation and maturation of the small intestine at weaning in the hypothymic (nude) rat. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* **12**, 361-368 (1991).
- 142 Guy-Grand, D. *et al.* Extrathymic t cell lymphopoiesis: Ontogeny and contribution to gut intraepithelial lymphocytes in athymic and euthymic mice. *J Exp Med* **197**, 333-341, doi:10.1084/jem.20021639 (2003).
- 143 Kretschmer, K. *et al.* Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen. *Nature immunology* **6**, 1219-1227 (2005).
- 144 Kim, K. S. *et al.* Dietary antigens limit mucosal immunity by inducing regulatory T cells in the small intestine. *Science* **351**, 858-863, doi:10.1126/science.aac5560 (2016).
- 145 Schuurman, H.-J., Hougen, H. P. & van Loveren, H. The rnu (Rowett nude) and rnuN (nznu, New Zealand nude) rat: an update. *Ilar J* **34**, 3-12 (1992).
- 146 Boyman, O. & Sprent, J. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 12, 180-190 (2012).
- 147 Dahan, S. *et al.* Notch-1 signaling regulates intestinal epithelial barrier function, through interaction with CD4+ T cells, in mice and humans. *Gastroenterology* **140**, 550-559, doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.10.057 (2011).
- 148 Eberl, G., Colonna, M., Di Santo, J. P. & McKenzie, A. N. Innate lymphoid cells. Innate lymphoid cells: a new paradigm in immunology. *Science* 348, aaa6566, doi:10.1126/science.aaa6566 (2015).
- 149 Ibiza, S. *et al.* Glial-cell-derived neuroregulators control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and gut defence. *Nature* **535**, 440-443, doi:10.1038/nature18644 (2016).
- 150 Eberl, G. *et al.* An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORgamma(t) in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *Nature immunology* 5, 64-73, doi:10.1038/ni1022 (2004).
- 151 Hepworth, M. R. *et al.* Innate lymphoid cells regulate CD4+ T-cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria. *Nature* **498**, 113-117, doi:10.1038/nature12240 (2013).
- 152 Otte, J. M. *et al.* Mechanisms of lectin (phytohemagglutinin)-induced growth in small intestinal epithelial cells. *Digestion* **64**, 169-178 (2001).
- 153 Liddle, R. A. Cholecystokinin cells. *Annual review of physiology* **59**, 221-242, doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.59.1.221 (1997).
- 154 Washington, M. C. *et al.* Cholecystokinin-8 activates myenteric neurons in 21- and 35-day old but not 4- and 14-day old rats. *Peptides* **32**, 272-280, doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2010.11.010 (2011).

- 155 Doyle, C. M. & Jamieson, J. D. Development of secretagogue response in rat pancreatic acinar cells. *Developmental Biology* 65, 11-27, doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(78)90175-6 (1978).
- 156 Jordinson, M. *et al.* Gastrointestinal responses to a panel of lectins in rats maintained on total parenteral nutrition. *The American journal of physiology* **276**, G1235-1242 (1999).
- 157 Vergnolle, N. Clinical relevance of proteinase activated receptors (pars) in the gut. *Gut* 54, 867-874, doi:10.1136/gut.2004.048876 (2005).
- 158 Dulon, S. *et al.* Pseudomonas aeruginosa Elastase Disables Proteinase-Activated Receptor 2 in Respiratory Epithelial Cells. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* **32**, 411-419, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2004-0274OC (2005).
- Molino, M. *et al.* Differential Expression of Functional Protease-Activated Receptor-2 (PAR-2) in Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 18, 825-832, doi:10.1161/01.atv.18.5.825 (1998).
- 160 Jaworek, J. *et al.* Exposition of newborn rats to bacterial endotoxin impairs pancreatic enzyme secretion at adult age. *J Physiol Pharmacol.* **58**, 287-302 (2007).
- 161 Nhu, Q. M. *et al.* Novel signaling interactions between proteinase-activated receptor 2 and Toll-like receptors in vitro and in vivo. *Mucosal immunology* 3, 29-39, doi:10.1038/mi.2009.120 (2010).
- 162 Bucci, M. *et al.* Cross-talk between toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR(2)) is involved in vascular function. *British journal of pharmacology* **168**, 411-420, doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02205.x (2013).
- 163 Vergnolle, N. Protease inhibition as new therapeutic strategy for GI diseases. *Gut* **65**, 1215-1224, doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309147 (2016).
- 164 Vergnolle, N. Proteinase-activated receptor-2-activating peptides induce leukocyte rolling, adhesion, and extravasation in vivo. *J Immunol* **163**, 5064-5069 (1999).
- 165 Lindner, J. R. *et al.* Delayed onset of inflammation in protease-activated receptor-2-deficient mice. *J Immunol* **165**, 6504-6510 (2000).
- 166 Kawabata, A. *et al.* The protease-activated receptor-2 agonist induces gastric mucus secretion and mucosal cytoprotection. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **107**, 1443-1450, doi:10.1172/jci10806 (2001).